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Presentation of Information

This document comprises the financial statements for HSBC Bank Middle East Limited — UAE Operations (‘the Bank’).
References to “‘HSBC’ or “HSBC Group’ within this document mean HSBC Holdings plc together with its subsidiaries.
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Report on the audit of the financial statements
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In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of HSBC Bank Middle East Limited-UAE Operations (the “Branch”) as at 31
December 2016, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).

What we have audited
The Branch’s financial statements comprise:

° the income statement for the year ended 31 December 2016;

° the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

o the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016;

° the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

° the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and

° the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant

accounting policies.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Branch in accordance with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of financial statements in the United
Arab Emirates. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers (Dubai Branch), License no. 102451
Emaar Square, Building 4, Level 8, P O Box 11987, Dubai - United Arab Emirates
T: +971 (0)4 304 3100, F: +971 (0)4 346 9150, www.pwc.com/me

Douglas O’Mahony, Paul Suddaby, Jacques Fakhoury and Mohamed ElBorno are registered as practising auditors with the UAE Ministry of Economy
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Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Branch’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Branch or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Branch’s financial reporting
process.

\uditor's responsi0ilifies jor the audit of the jinanciat aterments

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Independent auditor’s report to the direc
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tors of HSBC Bank Middle East

Limited in respect of its UAE Operations (continued)
\uditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Branch’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Branch’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Branch to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

1 ), G- Y & T > . P N —— - e TR LY § y
Report on other regulatory requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Union Law No (10) of 1980, as amended, we report that we
have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose of
our audit.

fricewaterhouseCoopers

| X
Douglas O’ Mahony
Registered Auditor number 834
Dubai, United Arab Emirates
9 March 2017



HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Financial Statements

Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Notes AEDO000 AEDO000
INEIESE INCOME ...ttt et nn 5 3,005,628 2,984,465
INEEFESE EXPENSE ..eeveeeiiirisieiet ettt 5 (487,695) (484,576)
NEt INErESE INCOME ...ttt 2,517,933 2,499,889
Fee income 6 1,447,868 1,513,805
Fee expense 6 (185,826) (180,339)
NEL FEE INCOME ..ottt 1,262,042 1,333,466
Trading income excluding net interest iNCOME .........cccceeevvrrirreenisireeeenns 759,851 806,805
Net interest expense on trading activities (70,627) (68,360)
Net trading INCOME .......c.oiiiiiiiicieiie et 689,224 738,445
Net (expense)/income from financial instruments designated at fair value ... 4 (767) 26,648
Gains less losses from financial iNVeStMents ............ccoovercieininccicscee 5,497 7,809
Other Operating iINCOME ......ccovivvvieereiirsiete e neees 7 284,336 404,749
Net operating income before loan impairment charges and other credit 4,758,265 5,011,006
FISK PIOVISIONS ...oviiiiiccicieiei e
Loan impairment charges and other credit risk provisions ............c.cccccceeeenne 8 (435,405) (1,027,604)
Net 0perating INCOME ..o 4,322,860 3,983,402
Employee compensation and benefits ... 9 (1,522,475) (1,703,960)
General and adminiStrative EXPENSES .......ceevrvreerererererisesesreeeeseseseesesesesenees (845,616) (910,242)
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment ................... 20 (29,472) (29,930)
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets ...........ccccovrrieieinnnceens 19 (20,049) (19,695)
Total OPerating EXPENSES ........c.cucuiiriiririeieeir et (2,417,612) (2,663,827)
Profit DEfOre taX ......cceiiiieicceee s 1,905,248 1,319,575
TAX BXPEINSE ..ottt etttk b etttk b e 11 (343,384) (274,875)
Profit for the YEAr ... 1,561,864 1,044,700

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 68 form an integral part of these financial statements.




HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Financial Statements (continued)

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
PrOFit FOr the YRAN.......cuceiiiieetee e 1,561,864 1,044,700
Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met:
Available-for-sale iNVESIMENTS ..o e (4,799) (10,591)
— FAUIN VAIUE TOSSES ......vviiiiiitccc s (6,121) (13,162)
2 ONEIS ottt 789 1,394
— INCOIME TAXES ...ttt bbbt 533 1,177|
CaSh FIOW NEAGES.....c.eiieieieiei e bbbt 18,464 (8,419)
— fair value gains/(losses). 20,515 (9,355)
—INCOME TAXES ...ttt bbb (2,051) 936
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Re-measurement of defined benefit asset/liability ..o (315) (28,490)
— before iNCome taxes (NOLE 9) .....cvvvveveiiiriieeee e (315)| | (28,490)|
Total comprehensive iNCOMe fOr the YEar..........couvveeieinrneeere s 1,575,214 997,200

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 68 form an integral part of these financial statements.



HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Financial Statements (continued)

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2016

Assets

Cash and balances at central bank .............ccocoveiiriirinneiei e
Trading assets ...........ccccocvcneennae

Derivatives .........cocoecoeererenns
Loans and advances to banks ...
Loans and advances to customers ....
Reverse repurchase agreements — non-trading................ccocooccviccnnnnnca
Financial investments ...........ccccocooveiiciiens

Interest in associate......

Other assets .........
I ARG IDICIASEES) uuswsutsumaeisnsnsnsesnosmeossmessenssiosnssunmsaasisas s eSS am33
Property, plant and eqUIPMENt ..ot
Deferred taX @SSELS ........cvoviiiiiieiiiiii ettt ettt

TN BSSELS: ..cmnmransoosusssusmmsasmsmsmnsmssnsmsomsmssnsmsonisssmess s o ssssnsnsassissomsrsgonsmsassmsisss
Liabilities and equity

Liabilities

DEPOSIS DY DANKS ...ovonsersnnsisnsnonssnsnsspsssnsssanensasssasmsnsnssassnsboanssi s iaiaiasess
CUSTOMET ACCOUNES .......c.ouiivivivietiitetceetesesiesie st ene e bt enee s
Trading liabilities
Financial liabilities designated at fair value ...
DETIVALIVES ..ottt ettt sttt
Debt securities in issue ..
Subordinated liabilities ..
Other liabilities ...........
Curtent tasc TABIIIES: .....uoomusssssusassmsmsisnensosssin-thsksaassinmdosiss it s
Accruals and deferred INCOME .........c.ocoiiiiiiiiiieiiiice e
Provisions for liabilities & charges ...

TOotal HADIHEIES ....oveviviieieiiiiiiee e

Head Office funds

Allocated CapItal ..........ccovieiriii it
LAl TOSEIVES v sousssesnssmsssmassonsnsnnssssunsas svsnssspmemsssssssssesasssomenmsmen omsmsamms sy mmes
Other reServes .........ccovemvierieerecneens

Retained earnings

Total Head Office finds . cusmsmmmmnmommeninmsmmsisssmiessm

0 9 MAR 2017

Notes

13
16
17
14
13

18
38
21
19
20
22

23
24
29
17
26
33

27

2016 2015
AED000 AED000
8,109,427 8,891,364
624,212 429,871
4,558,739 3,329,812
15,472,758 13,553,668
62,933,189 67,861,215
3,859,692 2,963,845
16,110,930 17,649,352
- 277,071
1,389,784 1,946,474
45,842 55,798
147,613 132,760
720,839 782,217
113,973,025 117,873,447
14,591,570 12,619,282
60,867,651 67,167,079
5,496,794 5,010,003
1,475,028 3,115,575
4,896,867 3,607,128
5,139,667 5,643,810
2,757,742 2,757,354
3,878,369 4,949,499
371,542 391,157
440,701 237,993
573,915 501,151
100,489,846 106,000,031
4,495,255 4,495,255
1,908,118 1,751,932
(218,407) (245,806)
7,298,213 5,872,035
13,483,179 11,873,416
113,973,025 117,873,447




HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Financial Statements (continued)

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note AEDO000 AEDO000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit DEfOre taXx ..o 1,905,248 1,319,575
Adjustments for:
— Provision for liabilities and Charges............cccccovvrnniciccnnscees 130,909 133,295
— Allowance for impairment losses " 435,405 1,027,604
— Depreciation and amortiSation ...........c.cceovrieerinnneeeneseeeees s 49,521 49,626
— Share based payment expense including options...........c.cccccevvnneneen. 40,401 62,845
— Fair value movement on own debt...........covuriiinniiscieneceees 767 (26,648)
— (Gain) on investment in ShAres............cocviciiinc s (5,497) (7,809)
— (Gain) on derecognition of associate . (6,620) -
— Loss/(gain) on disposal of property and equipment .............cccoevnieiennnee 375 (166)
Net cash generated before changes in operating assets / liabilities ............... 2,550,509 2,558,322
— Change in loans and advances to banks and reverse repurchase
agreements — NON-trAdiNG ....cccvovvvveereeiririseeeese e seesenes (848,662) (4,751,690)
— Change in loans and advances t0 CUSIOMENS...........oveeririrereeeererereneenas 4,492,620 (2,447,865)
— Change iN Other @SSELS........ouiruiiriirieieeres s (653,609) 556,783
— Change in deposits by Danks...........ccccoeeniiciennssece e 1,972,288 3,159,413
— Change in CUSLOMEr 8CCOUNTS.......c.cvuiriiiriecirieieirre e (6,299,428) (5,575,731)
— Change in other liabilities " 434,599 80,409
— Retirement benefits and other charges paid............cccoceevvivveeinnirsiseenn (76,077) (56,211)
= TAX PRI .o (303,139) (425,344)
Net cash generated from/(absorbed in) operating activities ...........c.c.cccveuene. 1,269,101 (6,901,914)
Cash flows from investing activities
— Sale of financial assets and liabilities classified as fair value through
Profit and 10SS (NEL) ....cvvvviiieiiiieicie e (1,348,864) (136,935)
— Outflow from increase in investment in associate .. " 283,691 (277,071)
— Sale of available-for-sale investments (Net) .......c.cccoeverveirnnnnne . (3,717,882) 1,498,709
— Purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets (net) ............ (54,957) (68,633)
Net cash (absorbed in)/generated from investing activities ............c.cccooveuene. (4,838,012) 1,016,070
Cash flows from financing activities
— Debt securities (repaid) (Net).........cceeerrrrieieninnreee e (503,754) (763,436)
— Dividend paid to Head OffiCe .......ccccevivririeiereii s - (1,089,500)
Net cash used in financing activities (503,754) (1,852,936)
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (4,072,665) (7,738,780)
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 JANUAIY ........cccccveevereriienieenieesieeseesnens 30,195,727 37,934,507
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 DECEMDEX ..........ccccovrrrreeeririreeenenens 34 26,123,062 30,195,727

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 68 form an integral part of these financial statements.



HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Financial Statements (continued)

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2016

AL 1JaNUANY 2016 ...t
Profit fOr the YEar ........ccciiiiiicc s

Other comprehensive income (Net of taX) ......ccocvveiererivreieierirseeenns
Auvailable-for-sale investments .
Cash flow hedges ..........ccoeoevvinrncnennnn
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans ........ccccocoveieivinvceicienienns

Total comprehensive income for the Year ...

Transfer of profits to Head OffiCe .......ccccovvveeieiirvcceee e
Other MOVEMENLS ......cvivieireiirieiiieieie sttt

At 31 DECEMDBEN 2016 ....oovveeeeeeieieieieie st

2016

Other reserves

Cash

Available- flow Actuarial
Allocated Legal for-sale fair ~ hedging gains/(losses) Other Unremitted Total Head
capital Reserve value reserve reserve reserve  reserve profits Office funds
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AED000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
4,495,255 1,751,932 (8,042)  (30,793) (233,312) 26,342 5,872,034 11,873,416
- - - - - - 1,561,864 1,561,864
- - (4,799) - - - - (4,799)
- - - 18,464 - - - 18,464
- - - - (315) - - (315)
- - (4,799) 18,464 (315) - - 13,350
- 156,186 - - - 14,048 (135,685) 34,549
4,495,255 1,908,118 (12,841)  (12,329) (233,627) 40,390 7,298,213 13,483,179

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 68 form an integral part of these financial statements.




HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Financial Statements (continued)

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2015

2015

Other reserves

Cash
Auvailable- flow Actuarial

Allocated Legal for-sale fair hedging gains/(losses) Other Unremitted Total Head
capital Reserve  value reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Office funds
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000  AEDO000 AED000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
At 1January 2015 ... 4,495,255 1,647,462 2,549  (22,374) (204,822) (48,535) 6,087,115 11,956,650
Profit fOr the YEar ........ccciiiece e - - - - - - 1,044,700 1,044,700

Other comprehensive income (net of tax) ...
Available-for-sale investments ............... - - (10,591) - - - - (10,591)
Cash flow hedges ........c.ccceovvvvvncciinnenn. - - - (8,419) - - - (8,419)
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans ..........cccoveieiirnnceieinien - - - - (28,490) - - (28,490)
Total comprehensive income for the Year ...........cccovveeennnsceenesee - - (10,591) (8,419) (28,490) - - (47,500)
Transfer of profits to Head Office ........cccovvvviiciciicccecce - - - - - - (1,089,500) (1,089,500)
Other movements - 104,470 - - - 74,877 (170,281) 9,066
At 31 DeCembEr 2015 .......ooovieiieieeiereeieerere e 4,495,255 1,751,932 (8,042)  (30,793) (233,312) 26,342 5,872,034 11,873,416

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 68 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Notes on the Financial Statements

1

Legal status and principal activities

HSBC Bank Middle East Limited — United Arab Emirates (‘UAE’) Operations (‘the Bank’) is a branch of HSBC Bank Middle East
Limited (‘HBME”). Effective 30 June 2016, HBME transferred its place of incorporation and head office from Jersey, Channels
Islands, where it was regulated by Jersey Financial Services Commission to Dubai International Financial Centre, in the United Arab
Emirates, under a category 1 license issued by the Dubai Financial Services Authority (‘DFSA’).

The ultimate parent company of the Bank is HSBC Holdings plc, which is incorporated in England.

The bank is regulated by the Central Bank of the UAE.

The principal activity of the Bank is to offer a comprehensive range of financial services to personal, commercial, corporate and
institutional clients, which are carried out from the branches as follows:

2

Abu Dhabi Bur Dubai Deira
Jumeirah Jebel Ali Sharjah
Ras Al Khaimah Fujairah

Basis of preparation

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“‘IFRSs’) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘1ASB”) as well as interpretations issued by the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (‘IFRS IC”).

Standards adopted during the year ended 31 December 2016

There were no new standards applied during the year ended 31 December 2016. During 2016, the Bank adopted a number of
interpretations and amendments to standards which had an insignificant effect on the financial statements of the Bank.

Presentation of information

Capital disclosures under 1AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ have been included in Note 35.

The functional currency of the Bank is United Arab Emirates Dirham (‘AED’), which is also the presentation currency of the
financial statements of the Bank. The AED is also the Bank’s functional currency because the AED is the most significant
currency relevant to the underlying transactions, and represents a significant proportion of its funds generated from operating
activities.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. Any resulting exchange differences are included in the income statement. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency using the rate of exchange at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency using the rate of exchange at the date the fair value was
determined. Any exchange component of a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised either in other comprehensive
income or in the income statement depending where the gain or loss on the underlying non-monetary item is recognised.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial information requires the use of estimates and judgements about future conditions. In view of the
inherent uncertainties and the high level of subjectivity involved in the recognition or measurement of items highlighted as the
critical accounting estimates and judgements in section 3 below, it is possible that the outcomes in the next financial year could
differ from those on which management’s estimates are based, resulting in materially different conclusions from those reached
by management for the purposes of the 2016 Financial Statements. Management’s selection of the Bank’s accounting policies
which contain critical estimates and judgements reflects the materiality of the items to which the policies are applied and the
high degree of judgement and estimation uncertainty involved.

11



HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

(e) Future accounting developments

Minor amendments to IFRSs

The IASB has published a number of minor amendments to IFRSs through the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014
cycle and in a series of stand-alone amendments. The Bank has not early applied any of the amendments effective after 31
December 2016 and it expects they will have an insignificant effect, when applied, on the financial statements of the Bank.

Major new IFRSs

The IASB has published IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ and IFRS 16
‘Leases’.

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

In July 2015, the IASB issued IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, which is the comprehensive standard to replace 1AS 39
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, and includes requirements for classification and measurement of
financial assets and liabilities, impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.

Classification and measurement

The classification and measurement of financial assets will depend on how these are managed (the entity’s business model)
and their contractual cash flow characteristics. These factors determine whether the financial assets are measured at amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI”) or fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL’). The combined
effect of the application of the business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics tests may result in some differences
in the population of financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value compared with IAS 39. However, based on an
assessment of financial assets performed to date and expectations around changes to balance sheet composition, the Bank
expects that the overall impact of any change will not be significant.

For financial liabilities designated to be measured at fair value, gains or losses relating to changes in the entity’s own credit
risk are to be included in other comprehensive income.

Impairment

The impairment requirements apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, and lease receivables and
certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. At initial recognition, an impairment allowance (or provision in
the case of commitments and guarantees) is required for expected credit losses (‘ECL’) resulting from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (’12-month ECL”). In the event of a significant increase in credit risk, an allowance (or
provision) is required for ECL resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument
(‘lifetime ECL’). Financial assets where 12-month ECL is recognised are considered to be ‘stage 1’; financial assets which are
considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk are in ‘stage 2’; and financial assets for which there is
objective evidence of impairment so are considered to be in default or otherwise credit impaired are in “stage 3’.

The assessment of credit risk and the estimation of ECL are required to be unbiased and probability-weighted, and should
incorporate all available information which is relevant to the assessment including information about past events, current
conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts of economic conditions at the reporting date. In addition, the estimation
of ECL should take into account the time value of money. As a result, the recognition and measurement of impairment is
intended to be more forward-looking than under IAS 39 and the resulting impairment charge will tend to be more volatile. It
will also tend to result in an increase in the total level of impairment allowances, since all financial assets will be assessed for
at least 12-month ECL and the population of financial assets to which lifetime ECL applies is likely to be larger than the
population for which there is objective evidence of impairment in accordance with IAS 39.

Hedge accounting
The general hedge accounting requirements aim to simplify hedge accounting, creating a stronger link with risk management
strategy and permitting hedge accounting to be applied to a greater variety of hedging instruments and risks, but do not

explicitly address macro hedge accounting strategies, which are particularly important for banks. As a result, IFRS 9 includes
an accounting policy choice to remain with IAS 39 hedge accounting.

12



HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Based on the analysis performed to date, the Bank expects to exercise the accounting policy choice to continue 1AS 39 hedge
accounting and therefore is not currently planning to change hedge accounting, although it will implement the revised hedge
accounting disclosures required by the related amendments to IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’.

Transition

The classification and measurement and impairment requirements are applied retrospectively by adjusting the opening balance
sheet at the date of initial application, with no requirement to restate comparative periods.

The mandatory application date for the standard as a whole is 1 January 2018, but it is possible to apply the revised presentation
for certain liabilities measured at fair value from an earlier date. The Bank intends to revise the presentation of fair value gains
and losses relating to the entity’s own credit risk on certain liabilities as soon as permitted. If this presentation was applied at
31 December 2016, the effect would be to increase or decrease profit before tax with the opposite effect on other
comprehensive income based on the change in fair value attributable to changes in the Bank’s credit risk for the year, with no
effect on net assets. Further information on change in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk, including the Bank’s
credit risk, is disclosed in Note 29.

The Bank intends to quantify the potential impact of IFRS 9 once it is practicable to provide reliable estimates, which will be
no later than in the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’. The original effective date of IFRS 15 has
been delayed by one year and the standard is now effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early
application permitted. IFRS 15 provides a principles-based approach for revenue recognition, and introduces the concept of
recognising revenue for obligations as they are satisfied. The standard should be applied retrospectively, with certain practical
expedients available. The Bank has assessed the impact of IFRS 15 and it is expected that the standard will have no significant
effect, when applied, on the financial statements of the Bank.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ with an effective date of annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019. IFRS 16 results in lessees accounting for most leases within the scope of the standard in a manner similar to the way in
which finance leases are currently accounted for under IAS 17 ‘Leases’. Lessees will recognise a ‘right of use’ asset and a
corresponding financial liability on the balance sheet. The asset will be amortised over the length of the lease and the financial
liability measured at amortised cost. Lessor accounting remains substantially the same as in IAS 17. The group is currently
assessing the impact of IFRS 16 and it is not practicable to quantify the effect as at the date of the publication of these financial
statements. Existing operating lease commitments are set out in Note 37.

3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all financial instruments except for those classified as held-for-trading or designated at fair
value (other than debt securities issued by the Bank and derivatives managed in conjunction with such debt securities issued)
are recognised in ‘Interest income’ and ‘Interest expense’ in the income statement using the effective interest method. The
effective interest method is a way of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or groups of
financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life
of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument but not future credit losses. The calculation includes all amounts paid or received by the Bank that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument, including transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Interest on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss.
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(b) Non-interest income and expense

Fee income is earned from a diverse range of services provided by the Bank to its customers. Fee income is accounted for as

follows:

(©

(d)

— income earned on the execution of a significant act is recognised as revenue when the act is completed (for example,
fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a third party, such as an arrangement
for the acquisition of shares or other securities);

— income earned from the provision of services is recognised as revenue as the services are provided (for example, asset
management, portfolio and other management advisory and service fees); and

— income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument is recognised as an adjustment
to the effective interest rate (for example, certain loan commitment fees) and recorded in “Interest income’ (Note 5).

Net trading income comprises all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
held for trading, together with related interest income, expense and dividends.

Net income/expense from financial instruments designated at fair value includes all gains and losses from changes in the
fair value of financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, including derivatives that are managed
in conjunction with those financial assets and liabilities, and liabilities under investment contracts. Interest income, interest
expense and dividend income in respect of those financial instruments are also included, except for interest arising from debt
securities issued by the Bank and derivatives managed in conjunction with those debt securities, which is recognised in
‘Interest expense’.

Valuation of financial instruments

All financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of a
financial instrument on initial recognition is generally its transaction price (that is, the fair value of the consideration given or
received). However, if there is a difference between the transaction price and the fair value of financial instruments whose fair
value is based on a quoted price in an active market or a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the
Bank recognises the difference as a trading gain or loss at inception (‘day 1 gain or loss’). In all other cases, the entire day 1
gain or loss is deferred and recognised in the income statement over the life of the transaction until the transaction matures or
is closed out, the valuation inputs become observable or the Bank enters into an offsetting transaction.

The fair value of financial instruments is generally measured on an individual basis. However, in cases where the Bank
manages a group of financial assets and liabilities according to its net market or credit risk exposure, the fair value of the Bank
of financial instruments is measured on a net basis but the underlying financial assets and liabilities are presented separately
in the financial statements, unless they satisfy the IFRSs offsetting criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The majority of valuation techniques employ only observable market data. However, certain financial instruments are valued
on the basis of valuation techniques that feature one or more significant market inputs that are unobservable, where the
measurement of fair value is more judgemental. An instrument in its entirety is classified as valued using significant
unobservable inputs if, in the opinion of management, a significant proportion of the instrument’s inception profit or greater
than 5% of the instrument’s valuation is driven by unobservable inputs. ‘Unobservable’ in this context means that there is
little or no current market data available from which to determine the price at which an arm’s length transaction would be
likely to occur. It generally does not mean that there is no data available at all upon which to base a determination of fair value
(consensus pricing data may, for example, be used).

Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair values of financial instruments measured at fair value are determined in accordance
with the Bank’s valuation methodology which is described in Note 29.

Interests in associates and joint arrangement

A Joint arrangement is an investment in which the Bank, together with one or more parties, has joint control. Depending on the
Bank’s rights and obligations, the joint arrangement is classified as either a joint operation or a joint venture. The Bank classifies
investments in entities over which it has significant influence, and that are neither subsidiaries nor joint arrangements, as

associates.

The Bank recognises its share of the assets, liabilities and results in a joint operation. Investments in associates are recognised
using the equity method. The attributable share of the results and reserves of associates are included in the financial statements of
the Bank based on financial statements as at 31 December 2016 or pro-rated amounts adjusted for any material transactions or

events occurring between the date of financial statements available and 31 December 2016.
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Investments in associates are assessed at each reporting date and tested for impairment when there is an indication that the
investment may be impaired.

(e) Loans and advances to banks and customers

Loans and advances to banks and customers include loans and advances originated by the Bank which are not classified either
as held for trading or designated at fair value. Loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced to a borrower. They
are derecognised when either the borrower repays their obligations, or the loans are sold or written off, or substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are transferred. They are initially recorded at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction
costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment allowance. Where
exposures are hedged by derivatives designated and qualifying as fair value hedges, the carrying value of the loans and
advances so hedged includes a fair value adjustment for the hedged risk only.

The Bank may commit to underwrite loans on fixed contractual terms for specified periods of time. Where the loan arising
from the lending commitment is expected to be held for trading, the commitment to lend is recorded as a derivative and
measured at fair value through profit and loss. On drawdown, the loan is classified as held for trading and measured at fair
value through profit and loss. When it is the Bank’s intention to hold the loan, a provision on the loan commitment is only
recorded where it is probable that the Bank will incur a loss. This may occur, for example, where a loss of principal is probable
or the interest rate charged on the loan is lower than the cost of funding. On inception, the hold portion is recorded at its fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. For certain transactions, such as
leverage finance and syndicated lending activities, the cash advanced is not necessarily the best evidence of the fair value of
the loan. For these loans, where the initial fair value is lower than the cash amount advanced (for example, due to the rate of
interest charged on the loan being below the market rate of interest), the difference is charged to the income statement. The
write-down will be recovered over the life of the loan, through the recognition of interest income using the effective interest
method, unless the loan becomes impaired. The write down is recorded as a reduction to other operating income.

Financial assets which have been reclassified into the loans and receivables category are initially recorded at the fair value at
the date of reclassification and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate determined at the
date of reclassification.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Loan impairment allowances represent management’s best estimate of losses incurred in the loan portfolios at the balance
sheet date. Management is required to exercise judgement in making assumptions and estimates when calculating loan
impairment allowances on both individually and collectively assessed loans and advances.

Collective impairment allowances are subject to estimation uncertainty, in part because it is not practicable to identify losses
on an individual loan basis due to the large number of individually insignificant loans in the portfolio. The estimation methods
include the use of statistical analyses of historical information, supplemented with significant management judgement, to
assess whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual level of incurred losses is likely to be greater
or less than historical experience.

Where changes in economic, regulatory or behavioural conditions result in the most recent trends in portfolio risk factors
being not fully reflected in the statistical models, risk factors are taken into account by adjusting the impairment allowances
derived solely from historical loss experience.

(f) Impairment of loans and advances

Losses for impaired loans are recognised promptly when there is objective evidence that impairment of a loan or portfolio of
loans has occurred. Impairment losses are calculated on individual loans and on groups of loans assessed collectively.
Impairment losses are recorded as charges to the income statement. The carrying amount of impaired loans on the balance
sheet is reduced through the use of impairment allowance accounts. Losses expected from future events are not recognised.

Individually assessed loans and advances

The factors considered in determining whether a loan is individually significant for the purposes of assessing impairment
include the size of the loan, the number of loans in the portfolio, the importance of the individual loan relationship, and how
this is managed. Loans that are determined to be individually significant based on the above and other relevant factors will be
individually assessed for impairment, except when volumes of defaults and losses are sufficient to justify treatment under a
collective methodology.
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Loans considered as individually significant are typically to corporate and commercial customers, are for larger amounts and
are managed on an individual basis. For these loans, the Bank considers on a case-by-case basis at each balance sheet date
whether there is any objective evidence that a loan is impaired.

The determination of the realisable value of security is based on the current market value at the time the impairment assessment
is performed. The value is not adjusted for anticipated increases in future market prices though; adjustments are made to reflect
local conditions, such as forced sale discounts.

Impairment losses are calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows of a loan, which includes expected future
receipts of contractual interest at the loan’s original effective interest rate, or an approximation thereof, and comparing the
resultant present value with the loan’s current carrying amount. The impairment allowances on individually significant
accounts are reviewed at least semi-annually, and more regularly when circumstances require. This normally encompasses re-
assessment of the enforceability of any collateral held and the timing and amount of actual and anticipated receipts.
Individually assessed impairment allowances are only released when there is reasonable and objective evidence of a reduction
in the established loss estimate.

Collectively assessed loans and advances

Impairment is assessed collectively to cover losses which have been incurred but have not yet been identified on loans subject
to individual assessment or for homogeneous groups of loans that are not considered individually significant, generally retail
lending portfolios.

Incurred but not yet identified impairment

Individually assessed loans for which no evidence of impairment has been specifically identified on an individual basis are
grouped together according to their credit risk characteristics for a collective impairment assessment. This assessment captures
impairment losses that the Bank has incurred as a result of events occurring before the balance sheet date which the Bank is
not able to identify on an individual loan basis, and that can be reliably estimated. When information becomes available which
identifies losses on individual loans within a group, those loans are removed from the Bank and assessed individually.

Homogeneous groups of loans and advances

Statistical methods are used to determine impairment losses on a collective basis for homogeneous groups of loans that are
not considered individually significant, because individual loan assessment is impracticable. The methods that are used to
calculate collective allowances are:

—  When appropriate empirical information is available, the Bank utilises roll-rate methodology. This methodology employs
statistical analyses of historical data and experience of delinquency and default to estimate the amount of loans that will
eventually be written off as a result of the events occurring before the balance sheet date which the Bank is not able to
identify on an individual loan basis, and that can be reliably estimated. Under this methodology, loans are grouped into
ranges according to the number of days past due and statistical analysis is used to estimate the likelihood that loans in
each range will progress through the various stages of delinquency, and ultimately prove irrecoverable. In addition to the
delinquency groupings, loans are segmented according to their credit characteristics as described above. Current economic
conditions are also evaluated when calculating the appropriate level of allowance required to cover inherent loss. The
estimated loss is the difference between the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the original effective
interest rate of the portfolio, and the carrying amount of the portfolio.

— When the portfolio size is small or when information is insufficient or not reliable enough to adopt a roll-rate
methodology, the Bank adopts a basic formulaic approach based on historical loss rate experience, or a discounted cash
flow model. Where a basic formulaic approach is undertaken, the period between a loss event occurring and its
identification is explicitly estimated by local management, and is typically between six and twelve months.

Write-off of loans and advances

Loans (and the related impairment allowance accounts) are normally written off, either partially or in full, when there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. Where loans are secured, this is generally after receipt of any proceeds from the realisation of
security. In circumstances where the net realisable value of any collateral has been determined and there is no reasonable
expectation of further recovery, write off may be earlier.

Reversals of impairment

If the amount of an impairment loss decreases in a subsequent period, and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the excess is written back by reducing the loan impairment allowance account
accordingly. The write-back is recognised in the income statement.
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(9)

(h)

Assets acquired in exchange for loans

When non-financial assets acquired in exchange for loans as part of an orderly realisation are held for sale, these assets are
recorded as ‘Assets held for sale” and reported in ‘Other assets’.

Renegotiated loans

Loans subject to collective impairment assessment whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered past due,
but are treated as up to date loans for measurement purposes once a minimum number of payments under the original or
revised terms, as appropriate to the circumstances, have been received. Where collectively assessed loan portfolios include
significant levels of renegotiated loans, these loans are segregated from other parts of the loan portfolio for the purposes of
collective impairment assessment to reflect their risk profile. Loans subject to individual impairment assessment, whose terms
have been renegotiated, are subject to ongoing review to determine whether they remain impaired. The carrying amount of
loans that have been classified as renegotiated retain this classification until maturity or derecognition.

A loan that is renegotiated is derecognised if the existing agreement is cancelled and a new agreement made on substantially
different terms, or if the terms of an existing agreement are modified, such that the renegotiated loan is substantially a different
financial instrument. Any new loans that arise following derecognition events will continue to be disclosed as renegotiated
loans and are assessed for impairment as above.

Trading assets and trading liabilities

Treasury bills, debt securities, equity shares, loans, deposits, debt securities in issue, and short positions in securities are
classified as held for trading if they have been acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in
the near term, or they form part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there
is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit-taking. These financial assets or financial liabilities are recognised on trade
date, when the Bank enters into contractual arrangements with counterparties to purchase or sell the financial instruments, and
are normally derecognised when either sold (assets) or extinguished (liabilities). Measurement is initially at fair value, with
transaction costs taken to the income statement. Subsequently their fair values are remeasured, and gains and losses from
changes therein are recognised in the income statement in “‘Net trading income’.

Financial instruments designated at fair value

Financial instruments, other than those held for trading, are classified in this category if they meet one or more of the criteria
set out below, and are so designated by management. The Bank may designate financial instruments at fair value when the
designation:

— eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies that would otherwise arise from
measuring financial assets or financial liabilities, or recognising gains and losses on them, on different bases. Under this
criterion, the main classes of financial instruments designated by the Bank are long-term debt issues. The interest payable
on certain fixed rate long-term debt securities issued has been matched with the interest on ‘receive fixed/pay variable’
interest rate swaps as part of a documented interest rate risk management strategy. An accounting mismatch would arise
if the debt securities issued were accounted for at amortised cost, because the related derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in the fair value recognised in the income statement. By designating the long-term debt at fair value,
the movement in the fair value of the long-term debt will also be recognised in the income statement.

— applies to groups of financial assets, financial liabilities or combinations thereof that are managed, and their performance
evaluated, on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and where
information about the Banks of financial instruments is reported to management on that basis; and

— relates to financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives that significantly modify the cash flows
resulting from those financial instruments, including certain debt issues and debt securities held.

The fair value designation, once made, is irrevocable. Designated financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Bank enters into the contractual provisions of the arrangements with counterparties, which is generally on trade date, and
are normally derecognised when sold (assets) or extinguished (liabilities). Measurement is initially at fair value, with
transaction costs taken to the income statement. Subsequently, the fair values are re-measured, and gains and losses from
changes therein are recognised in the income statement in ‘Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value’.
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(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised on the trade date when the Bank enters into contractual arrangements to purchase
those instruments, and are normally derecognised when either the securities are sold or redeemed. They are subsequently
remeasured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in other comprehensive income until the assets are either sold or
become impaired. Upon disposal, the cumulative gains or losses in other comprehensive income are recognised in the income
statement as *Gains less losses from financial investments’.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are assessed at each balance sheet date for objective evidence of impairment. Impairment losses
are recognised in the income statement within ‘Loan impairment charges and other credit risk provisions’ for debt instruments.

Available-for-sale debt securities

In assessing objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date, the Bank considers all available evidence, including
observable data or information about events specifically relating to the securities which may result in a shortfall in the recovery
of future cash flows. A subsequent decline in the fair value of the instrument is recognised in the income statement when there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of decreases in the estimated future cash flows. Where there is no further objective
evidence of impairment, the decline in the fair value of the financial asset is recognised in other comprehensive income. If the fair
value of a debt security increases in a subsequent period, and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, or the instrument is no longer impaired, the impairment loss is
reversed through the income statement.

Derivatives

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying items such as equities, interest rates or
other indices. Derivatives are recognised initially and are subsequently measured at fair value. Derivatives are classified as assets
when their fair value is positive or as liabilities when their fair value is negative, this includes embedded derivatives which are
bifurcated from the host contract when they meet the definition of a derivative on a standalone basis.

Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are reported in ‘Net trading
income’. Gains and losses on derivatives managed in conjunction with financial instruments designated at fair value are reported
in ‘Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value’ together with the gains and losses on the economically hedged
items. Where the derivatives are managed with debt securities issued by the Bank that are designated at fair value, the contractual
interest is shown in “Interest expense’ together with the interest payable on the issued debt.

Hedge accounting

When derivatives are held for risk management purposes they are designated in hedge relationships where the required criteria
for documentation and hedge effectiveness are met. The Bank enters into fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or hedges of net
investments in foreign operations as appropriate to the risk being hedged.

Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded in the income statement, along with changes in the fair value of the hedged
assets or liabilities attributable to the hedged risk. If a hedge relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, hedge
accounting is discontinued; the cumulative adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item is amortised to the income
statement on a recalculated effective interest rate over the residual period to maturity, unless the hedged item has been
derecognised, in which case it is recognised in the income statement immediately.
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(k)

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives is recognised in other comprehensive income; the ineffective
portion of the change in fair value is recognised immediately in the income statement within ‘Net trading income’. The
accumulated gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the income statement in the same
periods in which the hedged item affects profit or loss. In hedges of forecast transactions that result in recognition of a non-
financial asset or liability, previous gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income are included in the initial
measurement of the asset or liability. When a hedge relationship is discontinued, any cumulative gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income remains in equity until the forecast transaction is recognised in the income statement. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
immediately reclassified to the income statement.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Non-qualifying hedges are derivatives entered into as economic hedges of assets and liabilities for which hedge accounting was
not applied.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include computer software, core deposit relationships, customer relationships and preferential lease intangible.
Computer software includes both purchased and internally generated software. The cost of internally generated software comprises
all directly attributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the software to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Costs incurred in the on-going maintenance of software are expensed immediately as incurred.

Intangible assets are subject to impairment review if there are events or changes in circumstances that indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

Intangible assets that have a finite useful life are stated at cost less amortisation and accumulated impairment losses and are
amortised over their estimated useful lives. Estimated useful life is the lower of legal duration and expected useful life.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised, generally on a straight-line basis, over their useful lives as follows:

Internally generated SOTIWAIE .........ccccoviiririeieiiiiicse et e between 3 and 5 years
Purchased software between 3 and 5 years
Core depoSit INTANGIDIE ........ccoiiiiiiciiiiee et 7 years
CUStOMET FElAtiIONSNID ©..vcvvceeeiiicce et 7 years
Preferential lease intangible ..o 8 years

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Management is required to exercise judgement in valuing intangible assets recognised. The following intangible assets were
identified and measured as a result of the business combinations in previous years:

Core deposit intangible: The core deposit intangible is valued using an income approach which calculates the present value of the
difference between the cost of existing deposits and the cost of obtaining alternative funds over the useful life of the deposit base.

Customer relationships: The customer relationship is valued using an income approach which considers the interest income on
future loans of existing customers along with the non-interest income expected to be derived from them.

Preferential lease: The preferential lease contract is valued using an income approach which considers the benefit to the lesser of
obtaining a rental lease at lower than the market rate, over the term of the lease.

The exercise of judgement requires the use of estimations and assumptions which are highly subjective and very sensitive to the
risk factors, in particular to changes in economic conditions and the regulatory environment. Further, the attainment of the
predicted results depends upon successful implementation of the underlying strategies by management and the realisation of the
underlying assumptions including any operational improvements. Events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected
and actual results are likely to be affected by events beyond the control of management resulting in differences between the
predicted and the actual results. Such differences are normal and may be material.
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Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings are stated at historical cost, or fair value at the date of transition to IFRSs (‘deemed cost’), less any
impairment losses and depreciation calculated to write off the assets over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold buildings are depreciated over the unexpired terms of the leases, or over their remaining useful lives.

Equipment, fixtures and fittings (including equipment on operating leases where the Bank is the lessor) are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and depreciation calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the assets over their useful lives, which
run to a maximum of 35 years but are generally between 5 years and 20 years.

Property, plant and equipment is subject to an impairment review if there are events or changes in circumstances which indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

(m) Finance and operating leases

(n)

()

Agreements which transfer to counterparties substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of assets, but
not necessarily legal title, are classified as finance leases. When the Bank is a lessor under finance leases the amounts due
under the leases, after deduction of unearned charges, are included in ‘Loans and advances to banks’ or ‘Loans and advances
to customers’, as appropriate. The finance income receivable is recognised in ‘Net interest income’ over the periods of the
leases so as to give a constant rate of return on the net investment in the leases.

When the Bank is a lessee under finance leases, the leased assets are capitalised and included in “Property, plant and
equipment’ and the corresponding liability to the lessor is included in ‘Other liabilities’. A finance lease and its corresponding
liability are recognised initially at the fair value of the asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Finance charges payable are recognised in ‘Net interest income’ over the period of the lease based on the interest rate implicit
in the lease so as to give a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

All other leases are classified as operating leases. When acting as lessor, the Bank includes the assets subject to operating
leases in ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and accounts for them accordingly. Impairment losses are recognised to the extent
that residual values are not fully recoverable and the carrying value of the assets is thereby impaired. When the Bank is the
lessee, leased assets are not recognised on the balance sheet. Rentals payable and receivable under operating leases are
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the periods of the leases and are included in ‘General and administrative expenses’
and “‘Other operating income’, respectively.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in the same
statement in which the related item appears.

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable on the taxable profit for the year and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years. The Bank provides for potential current tax liabilities that may arise on the basis of the amounts expected to
be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet
and the amounts attributed to such assets and liabilities for tax purposes. Deferred tax is calculated using the tax rates expected
to apply in the periods in which the assets will be realised or the liabilities settled.

Current and deferred tax is calculated based on tax rates and laws enacted, or substantively enacted, by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets
Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The recognition of a deferred tax asset relies on an assessment of the probability and sufficiency of future taxable profits,
future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences and ongoing tax planning strategies. In the absence of a history of
taxable profits, the most significant judgements relate to expected future profitability and to the applicability of tax planning
strategies, including corporate reorganisations.

Pension and other post-employment benefits

The Bank contributes to the UAE Nationals Pension and Social Security Scheme as per the requirements of the Government
of the United Arab Emirates.

20



HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

(p)
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For locally recruited employees (non UAE Nationals), end of service benefits are calculated and paid in accordance with the
UAE Federal Labour Law. The Bank's net obligation in respect of such end of service benefits is the amount of future benefits
that employees have earned in return for their service in current and prior periods.

The defined benefit pension costs and the present value of defined benefit obligations are calculated at the reporting date by
the scheme’s actuaries using the Projected Unit Credit Method. The net charge to the income statement mainly comprises the
current service cost, plus the unwinding of the discount rate on plan liabilities, less the expected return on plan assets, and is
presented in operating expenses. Past service costs are charged immediately to the income statement to the extent that the
benefits have vested, and are otherwise recognised on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits vest.
Actuarial gains and losses comprise experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial
assumptions and what has actually occurred), as well as the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. Actuarial gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

The defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of defined benefit obligations adjusted
for unrecognised past service costs and reduced by the fair value of plan assets. Any net defined benefit surplus is limited to
unrecognised past service costs plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The Bank also makes contributions to the HSBC International Staff Retirement Benefit Scheme in respect of International
Managers being seconded to the Bank by the HSBC Group. The Bank accounts for contributions to this scheme as if it is a
defined contribution scheme on the basis that any actuarial gains and losses would not be material.

Share-based payments

Shares in HSBC Holdings plc are awarded to employees in certain cases. Equity-settled share-based payment arrangements
entitle employees to receive equity instruments of HSBC.

The cost of equity-settled share-based payment arrangements with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
equity instruments on the date they are granted and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding credit to ‘Other reserve’. The vesting period is the period during which all the specified vesting
conditions of the arrangement are to be satisfied. The fair value of equity instruments that are made available immediately,
with no vesting period attached to the award, are expensed immediately.

Fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation models, taking into account the terms and conditions of the award.
Vesting conditions include service conditions and performance conditions; any other features of a share-based payment
arrangement are non-vesting conditions. Market performance conditions and non-vesting conditions are taken into account
when estimating the fair value of equity instruments at the date of grant, so that an award is treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market performance condition or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided all other vesting conditions are
satisfied.

Vesting conditions, other than market performance conditions, are not taken into account in the initial estimate of the fair
value at the grant date. They are taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments included in the measurement
of the transaction, so that the amount recognised for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted shall
be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. On a cumulative basis, no expense is recognised for equity
instruments that do not vest because of a failure to satisfy non-market performance or service conditions.

Where an award has been modified, as a minimum the expense of the original award continues to be recognised as if it had
not been modified. Where the effect of a modification is to increase the fair value of an award or increase the number of equity
instruments, the incremental fair value of the award of the extra equity instruments is recognised in addition to the expense of
the original grant, measured at the date of modification, over the modified vesting period.

A cancellation that occurs during the vesting period is treated as an acceleration of vesting, and recognised immediately for
the amount that would otherwise have been recognised for services over the vesting period.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded into AED at spot exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into AED at the exchange rate ruling at the
balance sheet date. Any resulting exchange differences are included in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency using the rate of
exchange at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated into the functional currency using the rate of exchange at the date the fair value was determined. Any exchange
component of a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income if the gain or loss on the
non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income. Any exchange component of a gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in the income statement if the gain or loss on the non-monetary item is recognised in the income
statement.
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Provisions

Provisions are recognised when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle a current legal or
constructive obligation, which has arisen as a result of past events, and for which a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Judgement is involved in determining whether a present obligation exists and in estimating the probability, timing and amount
of any outflows. Professional expert advice is taken on the assessment of litigation, property (including onerous contracts) and
similar obligations. Provisions for legal proceedings and regulatory matters typically require a higher degree of judgement
than other types of provisions. When matters are at an early stage, accounting judgements can be difficult because of the high
degree of uncertainty associated with determining whether a present obligation exists, and estimating the probability and
amount of any outflows that may arise. As matters progress, management and legal advisers evaluate on an ongoing basis
whether provisions should be recognised, revising previous judgements and estimates as appropriate. At more advanced stages,
it is typically easier to make judgements and estimates around a better defined set of possible outcomes. However, the amount
provisioned can remain very sensitive to the assumptions used. There could be a wide range of possible outcomes for any
pending legal proceedings, investigations or inquiries. As a result, it is often not practicable to quantify a range of possible
outcomes for individual matters. It is also not practicable to meaningfully quantify ranges of potential outcomes in aggregate
for these types of provisions because of the diverse nature and circumstances of such matters and the wide range of
uncertainties involved. Provisions for customer remediation also require significant levels of estimation and judgement. The
amounts of provisions recognized depend on a number of different assumptions, for example, the volume of inbound
complaints, the projected period of inbound complaint volumes, the decay rate of complaint volumes, the population identified
as systemically mis-sold and the number of policies per customer complaint.

Contingent liabilities, contractual commitments and guarantees
Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities, which include certain guarantees and letters of credit pledged as collateral security and contingent
liabilities related to legal proceedings or regulatory matters, are not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed
unless the probability of settlement is remote.

Financial guarantee contracts

Liabilities under financial guarantee contracts which are not classified as insurance contracts are recorded initially at their fair
value, which is generally the fee received or receivable. Subsequently, the financial guarantee liabilities are measured at the
higher of the initial fair value, less cumulative amortisation, and the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligations.

Debt securities issued and deposits by customers and banks

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Bank enters into the contractual provisions of the arrangements with
counterparties, which is generally on trade date, and initially measured at fair value, which is normally the consideration
received net of directly attributable transaction costs incurred. Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities, other than
those measured at fair value through profit or loss and financial guarantees, is at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method to amortise the difference between proceeds received, net of directly attributable transaction costs incurred, and
the redemption amount over the expected life of the instrument.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Such investments are
normally those with less than three months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, and include cash and balances at central
bank and loans and advances to banks.
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4 Net (expense)/income from financial instruments designated at fair value

Net (expense)/income from financial instruments designated at fair value includes all gains and losses from changes in the fair
value of financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, including derivatives that are managed in
conjunction with those financial assets and liabilities, and liabilities under investment contracts. Interest income, interest
expense and dividend income in respect of those financial instruments are also included, except for interest arising from debt
securities issued by the Bank and derivatives managed in conjunction with those debt securities, which is recognised in ‘Interest
expense’.

Net (expense)/income on long-term debt issued and related derivatives

2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
changes in own credit spread on 10Ng-term debt ...........ccccoivirniiiicice e (185) 32,824
other changes iN FaIr VAIUE ..........c.cuiiiiiie bbbt (582) (6,176)
Net (expense)/income from instruments designated at fair value (767) 26,648
5 Interest income and expense
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Interest income
L0oans and advanCes 10 DANKS ..........cciiiiiiiieiiet e 198,953 111,466
Loans and advanCes t0 CUSIOMIES .......c.cuiuriririirimiieietetiesirie et eb sttt 2,643,128 2,718,813
Investments " 88,811 64,299
(0131 £SO OO OO TTPPTROPPTRTOON 74,736 89,887
Total interest income 3,005,628 2,984,465
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Interest expense
DEPOSIES DY DANKS ...ttt (292,161) (258,550)
Customer accounts . (70,641) (79,731)
DIEDE ISSUBT ...ttt b bbbttt nnn (124,893) (146,295)
Total interest expense (487,695) (484,576)
Net interest income 2517,933 2,499 889
6 Feeincome and expense
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Fee income
Personal DANKING FEES ......c.ouviiiiiiiiciieii e 471,979 492,996
Corporate DANKING FEES ......c.oiiee bbb 446,598 515,207
INVESTMENE DANKING TEES ...ttt nennenan 529,291 505,602
Total 1,447,868 1,513,805
Fee expense
Personal BanNKING FEES .......cvicciiirce ettt en (106,055) (97,370)
Corporate banking fees . (21,852) (23,903)
Investment banking fees (57,919) (59,066)
Total (185,826) (180,339)
Net fee income 1,262,042 1,333,466
7  Other operating income
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Recovery of operational/support cost from other HSBC Group entities (refer note 40)................... 287,827 360,012
(375) 166
OBNEIS ...ttt e bbb bR R h bR bbbttt (3,116) 44,571
Total 284,336 404,749
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8 Loan impairment charges and other credit risk provisions

2016 2015
AEDO000 AED000

Loan impairment charge and other credit risk provisions
Net impairment charge on loans and advances t0 CUSIOMETS .............coeveeeveveevereeeeuesisee e sessessseesesenens (423,099) (1,030,585)
Net impairment (charge)/release in respect of other credit risK...........ccoceceinnniicccie (12,306) 2,981
Total (435,405) (1,027,604)

9 Employee compensation and benefits
2016 2015
AEDO000 AED000
WAGES QNG SAIATIES .....vvcieviiisieieie ettt e et et s et et s s e e et s s se e e e e erenn (1,037,408) (1,113,703)
SOCIAL SECUITY COSES ..vvruriieeieriiisieteteeisesee e ettt e sese e e et et e e e s e besese e e et sesese e sessesesene e s sensnsenesens (10,748) (10,332)
Post-employment benefits. . (81,818) (80,020)
ONEES ..ot eee e s s e (392,501) (499,905)
Total (1,522,475) (1,703,960)
Post-employment benefit plans

Income statement charge in respect of defined benefit plans 2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Defined benefit PENSION PIANS .......c.cuiiiiiiieiee bbbt (78,772) (73,435)
(78,772) (73,435)
Net liabilities recognised on balance sheet in respect of defined benefit plans 2016 2015
AEDO000 AED000
Defined benefit PENSION PIANS .......c.ciiiiiieiciee et 488,402 457,008

Defined benefit pension plans

Arrangements for staff retirement benefits are made in accordance with local regulations and custom. The staff indemnity
schemes for local staff include gratuity schemes.

The schemes are reviewed at least annually or in accordance with local practice and regulations by qualified actuaries. The
actuarial assumptions used to calculate the scheme obligations vary according to the economic conditions.

2016 2015

Present value of defined benefit obligations AEDO000 AED000
AL LJANUATY oottt bbbt b bbbt bbbt 457,008 390,861
CUITENE SBIVICE COST w..vvvvovririsieeiseise sttt ssesssesse st se sttt s st 70,144 65,487
Other movements .. 1,923 1,781
INEETESE COSE .vorvueriteienciseiseeee ettt ettt 8,628 7,948
ACHUATIAL TOSSES ....vovvvveesesiseeese ettt sttt bbbt 315 28,490
BENEFILS PRI ......ooocvvveecvesacssiseesissesses bbbt (49,616) (37,559)
Net liability 488,402 457,008

Total expense recognised in the income statement in ‘Employee compensation and benefits’

2016 2015

AEDO000 AEDO000

CUTTENE SEIVICE COSE .....vvvriiiiie ittt bbbttt (70,144) (65,487)
INEEIEST COSE ..ttt b bbbttt b bbbt (8,628) (7,948)
Total expense (78,772) (73,435)
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Post-employment defined benefit plans’ principal actuarial assumptions

The principal actuarial financial assumptions used to calculate the Bank’s obligations under its defined benefit pension plans at
31 December each period, and used as the basis for measuring periodic costs under the plans in the following periods, were as

follows:

Principal actuarial assumptions

Combined rate of

Discount Rate of pay resignation and
rate increase ployment termination
% % %
At 31 December 2016
United Arab EMIFAES ........cccoveiiiiiiiiiiiiicise s 1.8 5.0 12.3
At 31 December 2015
United Arab EMIFAES .......ccoiueiiiriiiriiiincicsie e s 1.8 4.5 8.0
The Bank determines discount rates to be applied to its obligations in consultation with the plans’ local actuaries, on the basis
of current average yields of long term, high quality corporate bonds.
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Discount rate
Change in scheme obligation at year end from a 25bPS INCIEASE...........cueviriiiiiet it (8,336) (9,960)
Change in scheme obligation at year end from a 25bps decrease... 8,607 10,356
Change in following year scheme cost from a 25bPS INCIEASE............c.vriii ittt (266) (819)
Change in following year scheme cost from a 250DPS JECIEASE.............ov it it 269 837
Rate of pay increase
Change in scheme obligation at year end from a 25bPS INCIEASE...........cvvvvriiiiier it 8,608 10,558
Change in scheme obligation at year end from a 25bps decrease (8,842) (10,210)
Change in following year scheme cost from a 25bPS INCIEASE............e.uriii it 1,636 2,182
Change in following year scheme cost from a 25DPS JECIEASE.............ovii it (1,591) (2,112)

10 Share-based payments

Income statement charge

This charge, which was computed from the fair values of the share-based payment transaction when contracted, arose under
employee share awards made in accordance with HSBC’s reward structures (discussed further below).

The share-based payments charge is recognised in ‘Others’ within the Employee compensation and benefits (Note 9).

Deferred share awards

These awards are granted to employees after the performance year. These awards confer the right to the employees concerned
to own shares of HSBC Holdings plc upon completion of minimum number of years of service from the date of award. Should

the employee not satisfy this condition, subject to certain exceptions, the award would lapse.

The following table identifies the charge recognised in the current year, or expected to be recognised in future years, and the

performance year to which the deferred awards relate.

Income statement impact of deferred share awards on current and future years

Charge recognised in 2016
in respect of performance year:

Charge expected to be recognised in 2017
or later in respect of performance year:

2016 Pre-2016 2016 Pre-2016
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
HSBC deferred share awards ..........cccoceeeveennncnenene. (9,155) (28,665) (14,408) (21,672)

Charge recognised in 2015
in respect of performance year:

Charge expected to be recognised in 2016
or later in respect of performance year:

2015 Pre-2015 2015 Pre-2015
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
HSBC deferred share awards ............cocccevvrvriveerecnrnenns (10,444) (28,088) (21,742) (16,499)
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11 Tax expense

2016 2015
Current tax AED000 AED000
Tax — on current year profit..........c.coceeeuene (250,087) (379,914)
Tax — adjustments in respect of prior years 1,356 (6,930)
(D) =10 £=To [ - D TSSOSO P TR U PP URTSTPRPROIN (87,089) 125,842
L 1T SRS (7,564) (13,873)
TAX BXPEIISE ..ottt bbb (343,384) (274,875)
Analysis of tax expense
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
ACCOUNTING PIOFIE...cvtiteteiie ittt bbbttt s s bbbttt b bbb b et st s bbbt 1,905,247 1,319,575
Taxation at UAE corporate tax rate of 2096 (2015: 2006)...........cevrereereerrrnmseessensesssssssssssssssssssssssssssossssansons (381,049) (263,594)
Exempt income in respect of Jebel Ali and Ras Al Khaimah branches ..........ccocoveeivinieicinnisccsinns 48,177 73,984
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (4,304) (37,270)
Adjustment in respect of prior period labIlItIes ............cociiiirie s 1,356 (6,930)
ORI s (7,564) (41,065)
OVEIAIL TAX EXPENSE ....eeiitietestie ittt ettt bbbttt bbb bt e e bbbt bbbt bbbttt eb s (343,384) (274,875)

The tax charge is determined by applying the official tax rate of 20% to the taxable profits arising in the Emirates of Abu Dhabi,
Dubai, Sharjah and Fujairah.
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12 Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by measurement basis

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost. The
summary of significant accounting policies in Note 3 describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured, and
how income and expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognized. The following table analyses the carrying
amounts of the financial assets and liabilities by category as defined in IAS 39 and by balance sheet heading.

At 31 December 2016

Financial
assetsand  Derivatives
Available- liabilitiesat  designated
Held for  Designated at for-sale amortised  as hedging
trading fair value securities cost instruments Total
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Financial assets
Cash and balances at central banK............ccccocovvevinnene. - - - 8,109,427 - 8,109,427
Trading @SSELS ...cvvivrerieieirirerieieree st 624,212 - - - - 624,212
Derivatives ........cccccevveernennn. 4,415,988 - - - 142,751 4,558,739
Loans and advances to banks ...... - - - 15,472,758 - 15,472,758
Loans and advances to customers ................. - - - 62,933,189 - 62,933,189
Reverse repurchase agreements — non-trading .. - - - 3,859,692 - 3,859,692
Financial investments .........ccooevvevvevievveiiennens - - 16,110,930 - - 16,110,930
Oher @SSELS ....cvcveveereiiieieeececeeete e - - - 1,389,784 - 1,389,784
Total financial assets .... 5,040,200 - 16,110,930 91,764,850 142,751 113,058,731
Total non-financial assets ........c.ccccoeeveeeeeieeeereeiienns 914,294
TOtal ASSELS ...voveeeeeeieeeree e e 113,973,025
Financial liabilities
Deposits bY DANKS ........cccoveeieerieeee e - - - 14,591,571 - 14,591,570
CUSEOMET ACCOUNLS ...t - - - 60,867,651 - 60,867,651
Trading liabilities ...........cccoceeeeieiiiinen 5,496,794 - - - - 5,496,794
Financial liabilities designated at fair value .. - 1,475,028 - - - 1,475,028
DENVALIVES ....oocvecvereeeeeiere et 4,326,162 - - - 570,704 4,896,866
Debt SECUFILIES TN ISSUE ........vveeeeeeeereeeee e - - - 2,757,742 - 2,757,742
Subordinated LiahDilities ............ccceveeeerereeieirerisieenns - - - 5,139,667 - 5,139,667
Other laDIlItIES .......c.cvvveevervreieeieeieeeesess e, - - - 3,878,369 - 3,878,369
Total financial liabilities ........ccccoovreieieinieeceienne 9,822,956 1,475,028 - 87,234,999 570,704 99,103,687
Total non-financial liabilities ...........ccccceeevveviviiecnennne 1,386,159
Total liabilities ......ocveevieiciiiceceee e 100,489,846
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At 31 December 2015

Financial
assetsand  Derivatives
Available-for-  liabilitiesat  designated
Held for Designated at sale amortised  as hedging
trading fair value securities cost  instruments Total
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Financial assets
Cash and balances at central bank..............ccccouevevnnnes - - - 8,891,364 - 8,891,364
Trading assets .......cccoevvrvreerenenn 429,871 - - - - 429,871
Derivatives ...... 3,284,376 - - - 45,436 3,329,812
Loans and advances to banks ...... - - - 13,553,668 - 13,553,668
Loans and advances to CUSEOMENS ...........ccvveeveerrerrienne - - - 67,861,215 - 67,861,215
Reverse repurchase agreements — non-trading - - - 2,963,845 - 2,963,845
Financial iNVESIMENTS ........oveevvevreeeeeeeeeeeesseeereeenes - - 17,649,352 - - 17,649,352
OtNEr SSELS ....v.vevveeevcee ettt - - - 1,946,474 - 1,946,474
Total financial 8SSELS .........c..ovverrvvrerrerreriecriesiesieones 3,714,247 - 17,649,352 95,216,566 45,436 116,625,601
Total non-financial @SSets ...........c.covvveevrvreereeerreennns 1,247,846
TOAl ASSELS cvvvvvveveeeriririeiee et 117,873,447
Financial liabilities
DEpPOSIts bY DANKS ......cevvivcicieieiccssese s - - - 12,619,282 - 12,619,282
Customer accounts .... - - - 67,167,079 - 67,167,079
Trading liabilities .........cccoevevvvereeeeeeeeeee s 5,010,003 - - - - 5,010,003
Financial liabilities designated at fair value.. - 3,115,575 - - - 3,115,575
DErIVALIVES ..vovieiiieiee e 3,493,723 - - - 113,405 3,607,128
Subordinated liabilities .............ccoeoeeeiiieeeeeeeeeene, - - - 2,757,354 - 2,757,354
Debt SECUTItIeS iN ISSUE ..........veevereeeeeieeerieeeseseeesisiens - - - 5,643,810 - 5,643,810
Other Habilities .........ccovevveieeiciceceeee e - - - 4,949,499 - 4,949,499
Total financial liabilities ..........ccccceevvvreicinrirrreenn 8,503,726 3,115,575 - 93,137,024 113,405 104,869,730
Total non-financial liabilities..........ccccocoveieirrrcennn, 1,130,301
Total liabilities........cccovvvevieciiiiece e 106,000,031
13 Cash and balances at central bank
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
CaASN IN NN ...ttt e e bbb s e bt e b et e s e st st be s et e e st s et e Re e s st eteneneas 636,835 788,895
Statutory reserves With Central DANK ............cccouiiice bbb 7,472,592 8,102,469
8,109,427 8,891,364
14 Loans and advances to banks
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
L.0ans and adVaNCES t0 DANKS .........cuiiiiiiiictiieteee ettt bbb ne s 15,472,758 13,553,668
15,472,758 13,553,668
15 Loans and advances to customers
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
OVEIATATLS ...ttt ettt st e b e st ebe et ese e b e s e et e s e b et e s et ebe b ese b e s e et e s e b e s ebe s ebe s etesberenrens 5,203,616 5,937,872
CrEOIT CANAS .....evveviiete ettt ettt et et st e s et e se b e st et e s e b et e s e e e b et e b et et e e be e e s e e ene s ebaeebenberentens 2,326,775 2,430,259
Term lending . 48,994,554 52,986,264
BIIS QISCOUNTEA ...ttt ettt sttt bbbt et e e b e e e s et et et et et enesbesesseneeseneebenes 1,836,157 2,822,914
NS ...ttt ettt ettt bttt b st s bt e bt e e e b st e R e e s e b b oA e R e e Rk R e R e ettt et e e ettt ene e e r e 8,541,327 7,867,383
66,902,429 72,044,692
Less: Allowance fOr iMmpairMENt [OSSES ........cciriururieirieirieieie ittt bbbttt (3,969,240) (4,183,477)
62,933,189 67,861,215
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16 Trading assets

2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000

Trading assets:
- not subject to re-pledge or resale by COUNEIPAITIES ........ccooiiiiiririiiniriree s 624,212 429,871
624,212 429,871
Treasury and other eligible DIllS............oiiciie s - -
Debt securities .........ccovvnneee. . 335,451 365,794
ONBTS .. 288,761 64,077
624,212 429,871

17 Derivatives

Fair values of derivatives by product contract type held by the Bank
Assets Liabilities
Trading Hedging Total Trading Hedging Total
At 31 December 2016 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Foreign eXchange .........cccovveveereininneee s 2,640,873 45,641 2,686,514 2,646,987 549,038 3,196,025
INEEFESE FALE ..o 1,579,228 97,110 1,676,338 1,478,373 21,666 1,500,039
Equity ........ 5,050 - 5,050 5,050 - 5,050
Credit ..... 3,198 - 3,198 8,118 - 8,118
Commodity and Other ...........ccceeevrnnnnecees 187,639 - 187,639 187,635 - 187,635
TOtAl . 4,415,988 142,751 4,558,739 4,326,163 570,704 4,896,867
Assets Liabilities

Trading Hedging Total Trading Hedging Total
At 31 December 2015 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
FOreign eXChange ..........ceveeevreieenieinneeeeeene 1,676,445 26,798 1,703,243 1,837,208 137,417 1,974,625
INEEIESE FALE ... 1,387,506 17,866 1,405,372 1,353,510 15,494 1,369,004
34,159 - 34,159 34,159 - 34,159
5,958 - 5,958 48,261 - 48,261
181,080 - 181,080 181,079 - 181,079
B (017 T 3,285,148 44,664 3,329,812 3,454,217 152,911 3,607,128

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying items such as equities, bonds, interest rates,
foreign exchange, credit spreads, commaodities and equity or other indices. Derivatives enable users to increase, reduce or alter
exposure to credit or market risks.

Derivatives are carried at fair value and shown in the balance sheet as separate totals of assets and liabilities. A description of how
the fair value of derivatives is derived is set out in Note 29. Derivative assets and liabilities on different transactions are only set off
(netted) if the transactions are with the same counterparty, a legal right of set off exists and the cash flows are intended to be settled
on a net basis.

Use of derivatives

The Bank transacts derivatives for three primary purposes: to create risk management solutions for clients, to manage the portfolio
risks arising from client business and to manage and hedge the Bank’s own risks. The Bank’s derivative activities give rise to
significant open positions in portfolios of derivatives. These positions are managed constantly to ensure that they remain within
acceptable risk levels. When entering into derivative transactions, the Bank employs the same credit risk management framework
to assess and approve potential credit exposures that it uses for traditional ending.
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Trading derivatives

Most of the Bank’s derivative transactions relate to sales and trading activities. Sales activities include the structuring and marketing
of derivative products to customers to enable them to take, transfer, modify or reduce current or expected risks. Trading activities
include market-making and risk management. Market-making entails quoting bid and offer prices to other market participants for
the purpose of generating revenues based on spread and volume. Risk management activity is undertaken to manage the risk arising
from client transactions, with the principal purpose of retaining client margin. Other derivatives classified as held for trading include
non-qualifying hedging derivatives.

Derivatives valued using models with unobservable inputs
The difference between the fair value at initial recognition (the transaction price) and the value that would have been derived had
valuation techniques used for subsequent measurement been applied at initial recognition, less subsequent releases, is AED Nil

(2015: AED Nil).

Notional contract amounts of derivatives held for trading purposes by product type

2016 2015

AED000 AEDO000

FOreign EXCANGE ..o s 238,562,278 280,187,777
101G (S A L PO PP PR VRPN 182,003,764 161,344,145
EQUITY ettt b £ e bR £ £ bbbt b bbbt ettt 272,548 365,538
CIEAI 1.ttt ettt ettt ettt b et e st et et e b eae e et e s et e se e et et et e s e se st et et et e s et e s et et et et ere et et etetens 865,800 1,088,808
COMMOGILY AN ONET ....veiiiisccee ettt s e et es s n e e e s eserens 238,035 92,642
421,942,425 443,078,910

Credit derivatives

The Bank trades credit derivatives and acts as a principal counterparty to a broad range of users, structuring deals to produce risk
management products for its customers, or making markets in certain products. Risk is typically controlled through entering into
offsetting credit derivative contracts with other counterparties.

The Bank manages the credit risk arising on buying and selling credit derivative protection by including the related credit exposures
within its overall credit limit structure for the relevant counterparty. Trading of credit derivatives is restricted to a small number of
offices which have the control infrastructure and market skills to manage effectively the credit risk inherent in the products.

Hedging instruments

The Bank uses derivatives (principally interest rate swaps) for hedging purposes in the management of its own asset and liability
portfolios and structural positions. This enables the Bank to optimise the overall cost to the Bank of accessing debt capital markets,
and to mitigate the market risk which would otherwise arise from structural imbalances in the maturity and other profiles of its assets
and liabilities.

The accounting treatment of hedge transactions varies according to the nature of the instrument hedged and the type of hedge
transactions. Derivatives may qualify as hedges for accounting purposes if they are fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges
in net investment of foreign operations. These are described under the relevant headings below.

The notional contract amounts of derivatives held for hedging purposes indicate the nominal value of transactions outstanding at
the balance sheet date; they do not represent amounts at risk.

Notional contract amounts of derivatives held for hedge accounting purposes by product type

2016 2016 2015 2015

Fair value hedge Cash flow hedge Fair value hedge Cash flow hedge

AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Foreign exchange .........ccocoveeennnicccneseeenes - 6,537,753 - 7,281,845
Interest rate 3,973,018 10,741,141 1,708,563 3,411,331
3,973,018 17,278,894 1,708,563 10,693,176
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Fair value hedges

The Bank’s fair value hedges principally consist of interest rate swaps that are used to protect against changes in the fair value of fixed-
rate long-term financial instruments due to movements in market interest rates. For fair value hedges, all changes in the fair value of the
derivative and in the fair value of the item in relation to the risk being hedged are recognised in the income statement. If the hedge
relationship is terminated, the fair value adjustment to the hedged item continues to be reported as part of the basis of the item and is
amortised to the income statement as a yield adjustment over the remainder of the hedging period.

Fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges

At 31 December 2016 At 31 December 2015
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
INErESt FAte ....ocvoviiciieeee e 49,291 13,194 10,160 7,850
49,291 13,194 10,160 7,850
Gains or losses arising from fair value hedges
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Gains/(losses) on:
= NEdgiNg INSITUMENTS ........cveiviiiieicieeste ettt 35,316 7,998
- onthe hedged items attributable to the hedged FisK ...........ccoc..vervveerrveienerienerisseriennne, (34,915) (6,455)
401 1,543

The gains and losses on ineffective portions of fair value hedges are recognised immediately in ‘Net trading income’.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, a gain of USD 1.54m (2015: 0.32m) was recognised due to hedge ineffectiveness in
relation to fair value hedges.

Cash flow hedges

The Bank’s cash flow hedges consist principally of interest rate and cross-currency swaps that are used to protect against exposures
to variability in future interest cash flows on non-trading assets and liabilities which bear interest at variable rates or which are
expected to be re-funded or reinvested in the future. The amounts and timing of future cash flows, representing both principal and
interest flows, are projected for each portfolio of financial assets and liabilities on the basis of their contractual terms and other
relevant factors, including estimates of prepayments and defaults. The aggregate principal balances and interest cash flows across
all portfolios over time form the basis for identifying gains and losses on the effective portions of derivatives designated as cash
flow hedges of forecast transactions. Gains and losses are initially recognised in other comprehensive income, and accumulated in
the cash flow hedging reserve, and are transferred to the income statement when the forecast cash flows affect the income statement.

Fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges

At 31 December 2016 At 31 December 2015
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
FOreign EXChanGe..........c...cooovovrvooreceirecc e, 45,641 549,038 26,798 137,417
INEEreSt Fate .......co.oooeeceee e, 47,819 8,472 7,706 7,644

Forecast principal balances on which interest cash flows are expected to arise

More than 3 5 years or less
3 months months but less but more More than
or less than 1 year than 1 year 5 years
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
At 31 December 2016
ASSELS . 60,072,482 32,017,828 12,302,104 -
Liabilities .....ccvvvcriiicisiicscee s 3,378,476 3,378,476 - -
Net cash inflow exposure .........cccoveeeciennnens 56,694,006 28,639,352 12,302,104 -
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18

More than 3 5 years or less

3 months months but less but more More than
or less than 1 year than 1 year 5 years
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000

At 31 December 2015
ASSEES s 38,754,457 35,430,859 25,198,833 399,168
Liabilities ..o 510,885 510,885 510,885 -
Net cash inflow exposure ..........cccoviiicnenninin 38,243,571 34,919,974 24,687,948 399,168

This table reflects the interest rate repricing profile of the underlying hedged items.

The gains and losses on ineffective portions of such derivatives are recognised immediately in ‘Net trading income’.

During the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, no gains or losses were recognised due to hedge

ineffectiveness relating to cash flow hedges.

Financial investments

Financial investments:

— not subject to repledge or resale by counterparties ...........c.coceceeerrerreieieresinnenns

Treasury and other eligible bills

— AVAIlADIE-TOr-SAIE ....cvcvieiiceccce s

DEDE SECUFILIES ..vivveveiieieiiei ettt ettt ne e e esenes
— AVAIlADIE-TOr-SAlE ......coeiiiiiiiecec e

Total financial INVESIMENTS .......covvvvieieeiirirse e
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2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
16,110,930 17,649,352
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
548,473 5,559,098
15,562,457 12,090,254
16,110,930 17,649,352
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19 Intangible assets

Movement of intangible assets

Internally
generated Purchased  Customer Core Preferential

software software relationship deposits lease payment Total

AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Cost
At 1January 2016 ......ccvrveerierreeinneeeeenns 93,241 30,016 13,100 41,798 5,315 183,470
Additions? 9,641 1,063 - - - 10,704
Disposals - (2,920) - - - (2,920)
Other Changes.........cocovriirieerenineee s - - - - - -
At 31 December 2016 ........ccocccovevrierneirenrienens 102,882 28,159 13,100 41,798 5,315 191,254
Accumulated amortisation
At1January 2016 .......cccooenernieneeeeeens (71,201) (29,535) (5,926) (18,908) (2,102) (127,672)
Charge for the Year? ...........c.coueeenernneioneninennonns (10,467) (1,075) (1,872) (5,971) (664) (20,049)
Impairment ............. . - - - - - -
Disposals ..... . - 2,886 - - - 2,886
Other Changes ........cccoeoreeeniireeeee s (577) - - - (1) (579)
At 31 December 2016 ........ccocccovevnierneirenrienens (82,245) (27,724) (7,798) (24,879) (2,767) (145,412)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2016°....... 20,637 435 5,302 16,919 2,548 45,842
Cost
At 1 January 2015 . 94,420 29,999 13,100 41,798 5,315 184,632
Additions? .......... . 7,741 18 - - - 7,759
DISPOSAIS ...t (8,920) 1) - - - (8,921)
Other Changes.........cocovreirieeeeniinecee s - - - - - -
At 31 December 2015 .......ccovevrierneieneeeeenne 93,241 30,016 13,100 41,798 5,315 183,470
Accumulated amortisation
At1January 2015 ... (69,527) (28,930) (4,055) (12,936) (1,438) (116,886)
Charge for the Year? ..........ccccoevemininereneeseneienns (10,025) (605) (1,871) (5,972) (664) (19,137)
IMPAITMENT ..o (558) - - - - (558)
DISPOSALS ... 8,911 1 - - - 8,912
Other Changes ........cccoevvrreeneiineeee s (2) (1) - - - 3)
At 31 December 2015 .......ccovvervrieneirereeenene (71,201) (29,535) (5,926) (18,908) (2,102) (127,672)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2015°........... 22,040 481 7,174 22,890 3,213 55,798

1 At 31 December 2016, the Bank did not have any contractual commitments to acquire intangible assets (2015: nil).

2 The amortisation and impairment charges for the year are recognised within the income statement under ‘Amortisation and impairment of
intangible assets’.

3 There are no intangible assets whose title is restricted and/or pledged as security for liabilities.
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20 Property, plant and equipment

Movement of property & equipment

Short leasehold Equipment,
land and fixtures and
buildings fittings Total
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Cost or fair value
AL 1JANUANY 2016 ...oveiiieeeieee s 219,873 193,032 412,905
Additions at cost. 37,868 7,360 45,228
Disposals ........... . (5,411) (5,475) (10,886)
OLNEr CRANGES ...ttt - - -
At 31 DECEMDBET 2016 .....ovviiiieicieieieiei s 252,330 194,917 447,247
Accumulated depreciation
AL L JANUANY 2016 ..ottt (129,236) (150,909) (280,145)
Depreciation charge for the year (17,388) (12,084) (29,472)
DISPOSAIS  ...vivieiiieteieiisisee ettt enen 4,784 5,161 9,945
Impairment 10SSeS reCOGNISEA .......covvviiriiciiieieiie e - - -
OFNEr CRANGES ... (187) 225 38
At 31 DECEMDET 2016 ..vvvvveveeieeeeeseteteee ettt aerens (142,027) (157,607) (299,634)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2016 .........cccovvevcervreniveeerererennenns 110,303 37,310 147,613
Cost or fair value
AL L1JANUANY 2015 oottt 182,997 192,322 375,319
Additions at cost.. 38,184 24,792 62,976
Disposals ........... . (1,309) (24,082) (25,391)
OLhEr CRANGES ...ttt ne s nerene 1 - 1
At 31 DECEMDEL 2015 ...vviiiieicieietce ettt 219,873 193,032 412,905
Accumulated depreciation
AL 1JANUANY 2015 ..o nens (116,686) (156,827) (273,513)
Depreciation charge for the year (13,847) (16,083) (29,930)
DISPOSAIS ...ttt 1,297 22,001 23,298
Impairment 10SSeS reCOgNISEA ......c.ooviviviieieiriirieeeee e - - -
OFhEr ChANGES ... ..ttt senenens - - -
At 31 DECEMDBEL 2015 ..ottt (129,236) (150,909) (280,145)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2015 ..........ccccoevvinnnnniceiceerrsenes 90,637 42,123 132,760
21 Other assets
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
INEEIESE FECRIVADIE ....oviviieieecte ettt sttt st e be e ae et ere et et e etesaesteas 94,611 87,844
PrEPaitl EXPENSES ..ottt 49,627 46,727
Endorsements and acceptances............cccoevreenee. 1,070,093 1,564,989
Items in course of collection from other banks . - 1
ORI BCCOUNES ...ttt bbbttt 175,453 246,913
1,389,784 1,946,474
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22 Deferred tax assets

2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Deferred tax is applicable to the following
Recognised in income statement
Other HADIIITIES......c.eiiviicriietee ettt e aens 23,321 26,568
Allowance for impairMENT IOSSES .........c.ceuiimiriiiiiiciceee e 697,518 755,649
720,839 782,217
23 Customer accounts
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
CUITENE ACCOUNTS .....evteeteiet etttk bbb st ettt b ek bbb et et st neenes 38,641,620 41,124,114
Savings accounts.. 7,651,952 8,102,200
Call deposits..... . 4,363,365 8,078,239
TOIM AEPOSIES ....vvvveeev ettt sttt sttt s bbb ss s b nse st s s 10,193,273 9,812,819
MONEY MArKet terM JEPOSILS.........eveereerierereeesee et ee st ss st sess et s s es s sttt nsessnseneas 17,375 49,640
ONEIS .ottt s bbbttt 66 67
60,867,651 67,167,079
24 Trading liabilities
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Other debt SECUTITIES TN ISSUE .....vveiiriiiicicieieieis bbb 5,360,689 4,862,920
OBNEIS ..ttt bbb bbb R e b bbb £ bbb bRt bbb et b bbb e 136,105 147,083
5,496,794 5,010,003
25 Financial liabilities designated at fair value
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
DEDE SECUNILIES TN ISSUE......c.evivicrieietiiete sttt sttt b et b e sa b ss bt ss s s e anin 1,475,028 3,115,575

At 31 December 2016, the accumulated amount of change in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk was a gain of
AED 2.76 million (2015: AED 2.95 million gain).

26 Debt securities in issue

2016 2015

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000

Medium terM NOES ... 11,975,384 11,972,458 13,622,305 13,617,759
Of which debt securities in issue reported as

- trading liabilities .........coovieeriiecce s (5,360,689) (5,360,689) (4,862,920) (4,862,920)

- financial liabilities designated at fair value..........c..c.ccccceevniennne (1,475,028) (1,475,028) (3,115,575) (3,115,575)

5,139,667 5,136,741 5,643,810 5,639,264
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27 Other liabilities

2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Items in course of transmission t0 Other DaNKS ... 122,470 1,037,505
MaArgiNal QEPOSITS . vcvvurevieeeeeririririe ettt r e se b s e e et s st e e seses 933,994 1,157,308
BANKEIS AFAFLS ......eeceiecc et 22,715 134,794
Endorsements and aCCEPLANCES .......c.ciiririrreieiiirisieieieie ettt 1,070,093 1,564,989
Other TADTHTIES........cevvti bbb 1,729,097 1,054,903
3,878,369 4,949,499

28 Provisions for liabilities and charges
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
AL L JANUAEY oo bbb 501,151 424,319
Charge FOr the YA .......c.eiiircee ettt s 130,909 133,295
PrOViISIONS ULITISEA ....vouvviicieeiiirisiee ettt (76,077) (56,211)
Exchange differences and other movements . 17,932 (252)
AL 3L DECEIMDET ...ttt 573,915 501,151

29

AED 67,029 thousand (2015: AED 8,689 thousand) relates to costs arising from contingent liabilities and contractual
commitments, AED 488,402 thousand (2015: AED 457,008 thousand) relates to provisions for pension and post retirement
obligations (see note 9) and AED 18,484 thousand (2015: AED 35,454 thousand) relates to restructuring provisions.

Fair value of financial instruments carried at fair value

Control framework

Fair values are subject to a control framework designed to ensure that they are either determined or validated by a function
independent of the risk taker.

Where fair values are determined by reference to externally quoted prices or observable pricing inputs to models, independent
price determination or validation is used. For inactive markets, the Bank sources alternative market information, with greater
weight given to information that is considered to be more relevant and reliable. Examples of the factors considered are price
observability, instrument comparability, consistency of data sources, underlying data accuracy and timing of prices.

For fair values ~ using valuation models, the control framework includes development or validation by independent support
functions of the model logic, inputs, model outputs and adjustments. Valuation models are subject to a process of due diligence
before becoming operational and are calibrated against external market data on an ongoing basis.

Changes in fair value are generally subject to a profit and loss analysis process and are disaggregated into high-level categories
including portfolio changes, market movements and other fair value adjustments.

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

In certain circumstances, the Bank records its own debt in issue at fair value, based on quoted prices in an active market for the
specific instrument. When quoted market prices are unavailable, the own debt in issue is valued using valuation techniques, the
inputs for which are based either on quoted prices in an inactive market for the instrument or are estimated by comparison with
quoted prices in an active market for similar instruments. In both cases, the fair value includes the effect of applying the credit
spread which is appropriate to the Bank’s liabilities.

Structured notes issued and certain other hybrid instruments are included within trading liabilities and are measured at fair value.
The credit spread applied to these instruments is derived from the spreads at which the Bank issues structured notes.

Fair value hierarchy
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined according to the following hierarchy:

« Level 1 — valuation technique using quoted market price: financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in
active markets that the Bank can access at the measurement date.

« Level 2 — valuation technique using observable inputs: financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments in active
markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments valued using models
where all significant inputs are observable.

« Level 3 - valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs: financial instruments valued using valuation techniques
where one or more significant inputs are unobservable.
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Financial instruments carried at fair value and bases of valuation

Valuation techniques:
With significant

Quoted market Using observable non-observable
price inputs inputs
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
At 31 December 2016
Assets
Trading SSELS ...cvvvvevevereririsieee e ees - 624,212 - 624,212
Derivatives . - 4,532,187 26,552 4,558,739
Financial investments: available-for-sale .................... - 16,110,930 - 16,110,930
Liabilities -
Trading labilities .......cccovvvveieinirrece e - 5,496,794 - 5,496,794
Financial liabilities designated at fair value - 1,475,028 - 1,475,028
DErVALIVES .....oveieiiieieieirie et - 4,870,315 26,552 4,896,867
At 31 December 2015
Assets
Trading SSELS ...c.vvveveveriiririnieieee st - 429,871 - 429,871
DEIVALIVES ....eviiiiecicieieie st - 3,321,652 8,160 3,329,812
Financial investments: available-for-sale .................... - 17,649,352 - 17,649,352
Liabilities -
Trading liabilities ........cccoviiiiiiiiic e - 5,010,003 - 5,010,003
Financial liabilities designated at fair value ................ - 3,115,575 - 3,115,575
DEIVALIVES ...oviiiieiccie e - 3,529,999 77,129 3,607,128

There were no material transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 in the period.

Fair value adjustments

Fair value adjustments are adopted when the Bank considers that there are additional factors that would be considered by a market
participant which are not incorporated within the valuation model. The Bank classifies fair value adjustments as either ‘risk-
related’ or ‘model-related’.

Movements in the level of fair value adjustments do not necessarily result in the recognition of profits or losses within the income
statement. For example, as models are enhanced, fair value adjustments may no longer be required. Similarly, fair value
adjustments will decrease when the related positions are unwound, but this may not result in profit or loss.

Risk-related adjustments
Bid-offer

IFRS 13 requires use of the price within the bid-offer spread that is most representative of fair value. Valuation models will
typically generate mid-market values. The bid-offer adjustment reflects the extent to which bid-offer cost would be incurred if
substantially all residual net portfolio market risks were closed using available hedging instruments or by disposing of or
unwinding the position.

Uncertainty

Certain model inputs may be less readily determinable from market data, and/or the choice of model itself may be more subjective.
In these circumstances, there exists a range of possible values that the financial instrument or market parameter may assume and
an adjustment may be necessary to reflect the likelihood that in estimating the fair value of the financial instrument, market
participants would adopt more conservative values for uncertain parameters and/or model assumptions than those used in the
valuation model.

Credit valuation adjustment (‘CVA’)

The credit valuation adjustment is an adjustment to the valuation of OTC derivative contracts to reflect within fair value the
possibility that the counterparty may default and that the Bank may not receive the full market value of the transactions (see
below).
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Debit valuation adjustment (‘DVA”)

The debit valuation adjustment is an adjustment to the valuation of OTC derivative contracts to reflect within fair value the
possibility that the Bank may default, and that the Bank may not pay full market value of the transactions (see below).

Funding fair value adjustment

The funding fair value adjustment is calculated by applying future market funding spreads to the expected future funding exposure
of any uncollateralised component of the OTC derivative portfolio. This includes the uncollateralised component of collateralised
derivatives in addition to derivatives that are fully uncollateralised. The expected future funding exposure is calculated by a
simulation methodology, where available. The expected future funding exposure is adjusted for events that may terminate the
exposure such as the default of the Bank or the counterparty.

Model-related adjustments

Model limitation

Models used for portfolio valuation purposes may be based upon a simplifying set of assumptions that do not capture all material
market characteristics. Additionally, markets evolve, and models that were adequate in the past may require development to
capture all material market characteristics in current market conditions. In these circumstances, model limitation adjustments are
adopted. As model development progresses, model limitations are addressed within the valuation models and a model limitation
adjustment is no longer needed.

Inception profit (Day 1 P&L reserves)

Inception profit adjustments are adopted where the fair value estimated by a valuation model is based on one or more significant
unobservable inputs.

Credit valuation adjustment/debit valuation adjustment methodology

The Bank calculates a separate CVA and debit valuation adjustment DVA for each counter-party to which it has exposure.

The Bank calculates the CVA by applying the probability of default (‘PD’) of the counterparty conditional on the non- default of
the Bank to the expected positive exposure to the counterparty and multiplying the result by the loss expected in the event of
default. Conversely, the Bank calculates the DVA by applying the PD of the Bank, conditional on the non-default of the
counterparty, to the expected positive exposure of the counterparty to the Bank and multiplying by the loss expected in the event
of default. Both calculations are performed over the life of the potential exposure.

Fair value valuation bases

Financial instruments measured at fair value using a valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs — Level 3

Assets Liabilities
AEDO000 AEDO000
At 31 December 2016
OB GBIIVALIVES.......cuecvieicteictc ettt sttt ettt st st e st st e se et e se et et ebe st ese st ese s es et ese st esessessesensebensetessesesteneas 26,552 26,552
At 31 December 2015
OhEE GEIIVALIVES ......c.evieiiteictc ettt sttt et ettt st et s b s e et e s et e s e b e seese st ebe et e b e b e s e st eseea e s esensebensebessenestenea 8,160 77,129

Derivatives

OTC (i.e. non-exchange traded) derivatives are valued using valuation models. Valuation models calculate the present value of
expected future cash flows, based upon “no-arbitrage’ principles. For many vanilla derivative products, such as interest rate swaps
and European options, the modelling approaches used are standard across the industry. For more complex derivative products,
there may be some differences in market practice. Inputs to valuation models are determined from observable market data
wherever possible, including prices available from exchanges, dealers, brokers or providers of consensus pricing. Certain inputs
may not be observable in the market directly, but can be determined from observable prices via model calibration procedures or
estimated from historical data or other sources. Examples of inputs that may be unobservable include volatility surfaces, in whole
or in part, for less commonly traded option products, and correlations between market factors such as foreign exchange rates,
interest rates and equity.
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Derivative products valued using valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs included certain types of correlation
products, such as foreign exchange basket options, equity basket options, foreign exchange interest rate hybrid transactions and
long-dated option transactions. Examples of the latter are equity options, interest rate and foreign exchange options and certain

credit derivatives. Credit derivatives include certain tranched CDS transactions.

Other portfolios

Other portfolios include certain debt securities for which active quoted prices are not available and the valuations are based on

internal assumptions.

Movement in Level 3 financial instruments

Assets Liabilities
Auvailable-for-
sale Derivatives Derivatives
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000

AL L JANUATY 2016......ouceieircieieieieie ettt es bbb - 8,160 77,129
Total gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss . - 5,912 (64,640)
Total gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive INCOME...........cvvivirirereriniinsseierenenns - - -
PUFCRASES ...ttt bbbttt ettt ettt s - - -
SIS .t bbb £ £ b bR R bbbt £ bbb Rt b bbb et - - -
TTANSTEIS QUL ...ttt bbbttt - - -
THANSTEIS N 1ttt bbb e bt e b et et e b et e b ebesbesesbeneereneebeneabe e aren - 12,480 14,063
AL 3L DECEMDEE 2016.......cueiiieeiteiiieet ettt bbbt b ettt - 26,552 26,552
Total unrealised gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss relating to assets and

liabilities held on 31 DECEMDEr 2016.........c.cecveuiiieiiiiieicreeteete et re e - 26,552 (26,552)
At 1January 2015.......ccoeeiiniiineceee 795 9,211 41,868
Total gains/(losses) recognised in profit or 10Ss..........ccccevvvennne . (60) (1,051) 35,261
Total gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive INCOME...........cveeiirinirinreieninreeeneene - - -
PUFCRESES ...ttt bbbt b bttt - - -
Sales........... (735) - -
Transfers out.. . - - -
TEANSTEIS TN .t b et b bbb bbb - - -
At 3L DECEMDBET 2015.....coeieiiseieieieeeeie ettt - 8,160 77,129
Total unrealised gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss relating to assets and liabilities held

0N 31 DECEMDEE 2015.......oiicieiiie bbb - 8,160 (77,992)

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to occur at the end of the reporting period.

Effect of changes in significant unobservable assumptions to reasonably possible alternatives

Sensitivity of Level 3 fair values to reasonably possible alternative assumptions

2016 2015
Reflected in profit or loss Reflected in profit or loss
Favourable Unfavourable Favourable Unfavourable
changes changes changes changes
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Derivatives, trading assets and trading
[IADIIIEIESY. ... 2,655 (2,655) 4,264 (4,264)

1 Derivatives, trading assets and trading liabilities are presented as one category to reflect the manner in which these instruments are risk managed.
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Sensitivity of Level 3 fair values to reasonably possible alternative assumptions by instrument type

2016 2015
Reflected in profit or loss Reflected in profit or loss
Favourable Unfavourable Favourable Unfavourable
changes changes changes changes
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Other DerivatiVes.............c.occooieciiiiiie e 2,655 (2,655) 4,264 (4,264)

Favourable and unfavourable changes are determined on the basis of changes in the value of the instrument as a result of varying
the levels of the unobservable parameters using statistical techniques. The statistical techniques aim to apply a 95% confidence
interval.

When parameters are not amenable to statistical analysis, the quantification of uncertainty is judgemental, but is also guided by
the 95% confidence interval.

When the fair value of a financial instrument is affected by more than one unobservable assumption, the above table reflects the
most favourable or the most unfavourable change from varying the assumptions individually.

Key unobservable inputs to Level 3 financial instruments

Fair Value 2016 2015
Assets  Liabilities  Full range of inputs Core range of inputs! Full range of inputs Core range of inputst
AEDO000 AEDO000 Lower Higher Lower Higher Lower Higher Lower Higher
Interest rate derivatives 121 121 45.3% 98.5% 57.1% 98.0% 43.0% 98.0% 43.0% 98.0%
FX derivatives 26,431 26,431 0.6% 3.6% 0.6% 3.6% 4.0% 10.4% A4.7% 10.2%

1 The core range of inputs is the estimated range within which 90% of the inputs fall.

A description of the categories of key unobservable inputs is given below.
Prepayment rates
Prepayment rates are a measure of the anticipated future speed at which a loan portfolio will be repaid in advance of the due date.

They vary according to the nature of the loan portfolio and expectations of future market conditions, and may be estimated using
a variety of evidence, such as prepayment rates implied from proxy observable security prices, current or historical prepayment
rates and macroeconomic modelling.

Market proxy

Market proxy pricing may be used for an instrument for which specific market pricing is not available, but evidence is available in
respect of instruments that have common characteristics. In some cases it might be possible to identify a specific proxy, but more
generally evidence across a wider range of instruments will be used to understand the factors that influence current market pricing
and the manner of that influence.

Volatility

Volatility is a measure of the anticipated future variability of a market price. It varies by underlying reference market price, and by
strike and maturity of the option.

Certain volatilities, typically those of a longer-dated nature, are unobservable and are estimated from observable data. The range
of unobservable volatilities reflects the wide variation in volatility inputs by reference market price. The core range is significantly
narrower than the full range because these examples with extreme volatilities occur relatively rarely within the Bank portfolio.

Correlation

Correlation is a measure of the inter-relationship between two market prices and is expressed as a number between minus one and
one. It is used to value more complex instruments where the payout is dependent upon more than one market price. There is a wide
range of instruments for which correlation is an input, and consequently a wide range of both same-asset correlations and cross-
asset correlations is used. In general, the range of same-asset correlations will be narrower than the range of cross-asset correlations.

Unobservable correlations may be estimated based upon a range of evidence, including consensus pricing services, group trade
prices, proxy correlations and examination of historical price relationships. The range of unobservable correlations quoted in the
table reflects the wide variation in correlation inputs by market price pair.
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Credit spread

Credit spread is the premium over a benchmark interest rate required by the market to accept a lower credit quality. In a discounted
cash flow model, the credit spread increases the discount factors applied to future cash flows, thereby reducing the value of an
asset. Credit spreads may be implied from market prices. Credit spreads may not be observable in more illiquid markets.

Inter-relationships between key unobservable inputs

Key unobservable inputs to Level 3 financial instruments may not be independent of each other. As described above, market
variables may be correlated. This correlation typically reflects the manner in which different markets tend to react to macro-
economic or other events. Furthermore, the impact of changing market variables upon the Bank portfolio will depend upon the
Bank’s net risk position in respect of each variable.

Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value
Fair values of financial instruments which are not carried at fair value and bases of valuation

At 31 December 2016
Fair value
Valuation techniques

Using  With significant

Quoted market observable unobservable
Carrying price inputs inputs
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Assets and liabilities not held for sale
Assets
Loans and advances to banks ..... 15,518,670 - 15,553,377 - 15,553,377
Loans and advances to CUStOMErS ...........cceeene. 62,887,277 - - 62,630,809 62,630,809
Reverse repurchase agreements- non-trading .................... 3,859,692 - 3,859,692 - 3,859,692
Liabilities
Deposits by Danks ... 14,591,570 - 14,590,281 - 14,590,281
Customer accounts ....... 60,867,651 - 61,519,484 - 61,519,484
Debt SECUNItIES IN ISSUE ...cvvveieieiiririeieeee e 5,139,667 - 5,136,741 - 5,136,741

At 31 December 2015
Fair value
Valuation techniques

Using  With significant

Quoted market observable unobservable
Carrying price inputs inputs
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Assets and liabilities not held for sale
Assets
Loans and advances t0 banks ...........c.ccceoervrvieeeierinisieennns 13,553,668 - 13,557,525 - 13,557,525
Loans and advances to CUStOMErs ................. 67,861,215 - - 67,305,414 67,305,414
Reverse repurchase agreements- non-trading .................... 2,963,845 - 2,963,845 - 2,963,845
Liabilities
Deposits by DaNKS ... 12,619,282 - 12,618,546 - 12,618,546
CUSLOMET ACCOUNLES ..vvveveeveieierisie st 67,167,079 - 67,538,064 - 67,538,064
Debt SECUTILIES IN ISSUE ....cvveviererieiereieesiee e 5,643,810 - 5,639,264 - 5,639,264
Valuation

The calculation of fair value incorporates the Bank’s estimate of the amount at which financial assets could be exchanged, or
financial liabilities settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. It does not reflect the economic
benefits and costs that the Bank expects to flow from the instruments’ cash flows over their expected future lives. Other reporting
entities may use different valuation methodologies and assumptions in determining fair values for which no observable market
prices are available, so comparisons of fair values between entities may not be meaningful and users are advised to exercise caution
when using this data.
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Loans and advances to banks and customers

The fair value of loans and advances is based on observable market transactions, where available. In the absence of observable
market transactions, fair value is estimated using valuation models that incorporate a range of input assumptions. These assumptions
may include value estimates from third party brokers which reflect over-the-counter trading activity; forward looking discounted
cash flow models using assumptions which the Bank believes are consistent with those which would be used by market participants
in valuing such loans; and trading inputs from other market participants which includes observed primary and secondary trades.

Loans are grouped, as far as possible, into homogeneous groups and stratified by loans with similar characteristics to improve the
accuracy of estimated valuation outputs. The stratification of a loan book considers all material factors, including vintage, origination
period, estimates of future interest rates, prepayment speeds, delinquency rates, loan-to-value ratios, the quality of collateral, default
probability, and internal credit risk ratings.

The fair value of a loan reflects both loan impairments at the balance sheet date and estimates of market participants’ expectations
of credit losses over the life of the loans, and the fair value effect of repricing between origination and the balance sheet date.
Deposits by banks and customer accounts

For the purposes of estimating fair value, deposits by banks and customer accounts are grouped by remaining contractual maturity.
Fair values are estimated using discounted cash flows, applying current rates offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities.
The fair value of a deposit repayable on demand is assumed to be the amount payable on demand at the balance sheet date.

Debt securities in issue and subordinated liabilities

Fair values are determined using quoted market prices at the balance sheet date where available, or by reference to quoted market
prices for similar instruments.

The fair values in this note are stated at a specific date and may be significantly different from the amounts which will actually be
paid on the maturity or settlement dates of the instruments. In many cases, it would not be possible to realise immediately the
estimated fair values given the size of the portfolios measured. Accordingly, these fair values do not represent the value of these
financial instruments to the Bank as a going concern.

30 Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis by remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date, of assets and liability line items that
combine amounts expected to be recovered or settled within one year and after more than one year.

Trading assets and liabilities are excluded because they are not held for collection or settlement over the period of contractual
maturity.

Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

At 31 December 2016 At 31 December 2015
Due within Due after more Due within  Due after more
one year than one year Total oneyear  than one year Total
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Assets
Loans and advances to banks ..........c.cccccceevrerinnns 13,452,322 2,020,436 15,472,758 11,803,985 1,749,683 13,553,668
Loans and advances to CUStOMETS ..............c..c..... 37,166,098 25,767,091 62,933,189 34,922,811 32,938,404 67,861,215
Reverse repurchase agreements- non-trading ...... 3,859,692 - 3,859,692 2,963,845 - 2,963,845
Financial investments .... 12,191,261 3,919,669 16,110,930 14,639,483 3,009,869 17,649,352
Other financial assets 1,389,362 422 1,389,784 1,941,896 4,578 1,946,474
68,058,735 31,707,618 99,766,353 66,272,020 37,702,534 103,974,554
Liabilities
Deposits by banks ........c.cccccevvieiiiieereeeine, 9,370,785 5,220,785 14,591,570 12,619,282 - 12,619,282
CUStOMEr ACCOUNTES ...ocvveveevievieiecieiese e 60,850,276 17,375 60,867,651 67,156,867 10,212 67,167,079
Financial liabilities designated at fair value . - 1,475,028 1,475,028 1,640,081 1,475,494 3,115,575
Debt securities in iSSUe ..........ccccceervirvinnns . 3,131,794 2,007,873 5,139,667 444,815 5,198,995 5,643,810
Other financial liabilities ...........cccccoovevvveviiennne 3,733,241 145,128 3,878,369 4,777,520 171,979 4,949,499
77,086,096 8,866,189 85,952,285 86,638,565 6,856,680 93,495,245

The following is an analysis, by remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date, of undiscounted cash flows payable
under financial liabilities.

42



HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

31

Due Due

between between
Due within 3and 12 land5 Due after
On demand 3 months months years 5 years
AEDO000 AEDO000 AED000 AEDO000 AEDO000

At 31 December 2016

Deposits bY DanKS ... 1,081,137 3,441,057 4,848,591 5,220,786 -
CUSLOMET ACCOUNLS ....vvvveviierieiireetees et eees 54,126,857 4,513,995 2,209,424 17,375 -
Trading labilities ........ccccovrrniiiiee e 312,091 173,221 425,630 3,372,258 1,213,594
Financial liabilities designated at fair value..............cc.ccovuenee. - - 40,346 1,549,696 -
DEIIVALIVES ... e 4,326,156 555 550,546 19,610 -
Debt SECUNTIES IN ISSUE ...ovvvvveececeriirieiee e - 1,006,146 2,125,648 1,857,571 150,301

Subordinated loan from Head Office .......cccovrvvvccinrnririnen. - - - 2,757,742
Other financial liabilities ........c.ccococeveeeeeviicececce e 3,093,347 388,117 251,778 145,128 -
62,939,588 9,523,091 10,451,963 14,940,166 1,363,895
Guarantees and off balance sheet commitments ...................... 70,736,577 - - - -
133,676,165 9,523,091 10,451,963 14,940,166 1,363,895

At 31 December 2015

Deposits by Banks ... 911,030 11,671,527 36,725 - -
CUSEOMET ACCOUNLS ....vevvivereeieteeetetete e 60,891,860 3,675,869 2,589,138 10,212 -
Trading liabilities .........ccccoeirroiicree e 147,081 - 790,184 2,914,326 1,158,412
Financial liabilities designated at fair value..............cccccouvueueee - - 1,695,274 1,590,042 -
DEIVALIVES ..ottt 3,607,128 - - - -
Debt SECUNItIES IN ISSUE ...cvevevirieriieiieesiee e - - 444,815 4,839,628 359,367
Subordinated loan from Head Office ........cccccoveivieiveiniennnn - - - - 2,757,354
Other financial liabilities ........ccccoovvvevvieiiinciee e 3,747,604 662,621 367,296 171,979 -
69,304,703 16,010,017 5,868,238 9,411,640 4,275,133
Guarantees and off balance sheet commitments ..............c....... 74,091,915 - - - -
143,396,618 16,010,017 5,868,238 9,411,640 4,275,133

Trading liabilities and trading derivatives have been included in the *On demand’ time bucket, and not by contractual maturity,
because trading liabilities are typically held for short periods of time. The undiscounted cash flows on hedging derivative liabilities
are classified according to their contractual maturity. The undiscounted cash flows potentially payable under financial guarantee
contracts are classified on the basis of the earliest date they can be drawn down.

Further discussion of the Bank’s liquidity and funding management can be found in Note 35 ‘Risk management’.

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

The “Amounts not set off in the balance sheet” in the following table for derivatives and loans and advances to customers and similar

agreements include transactions where:

- the counterparty has an offsetting exposure with the Bank and a master netting or similar arrangement is in place with a right
of set off only in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy, or the offset criteria are otherwise not satisfied; and

- cash and non-cash collateral has been received/pledged in respect of the transactions described above.

The ‘Amounts not set off in the balance sheet’ relate to transactions where the customer has an offsetting exposure with the Bank
and an agreement is in place with the right of offset but the offset criteria are otherwise not satisfied. For risk management purposes,
the net amounts of such exposures are subject to limits which are monitored and the relevant customer agreements are subject to
review and updated, as necessary, to ensure that the legal right of offset remains appropriate.
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Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements

Amounts not

set off in the
balance sheet
Gross
amounts of Gross
recognised amounts Cash
financial offsetin the ~ Amounts presented collateral
assets balance sheet  in the balance sheet received Net amount
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
At 31 December 2016
DEIVALIVES ....ovvveiceee e 4,558,739 - 4,558,739 - 4,558,739
Reverse repurchase, securities borrowing and similar
agreements classified as: ..........cococevevrrireieiniinnnns 3,859,692 - 3,859,692 - 3,859,692
- loans and advances to banks at amortised cost.... 3,771,279 - 3,771,279 - 3,771,279
- loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
............................................................................. 88,413 - 88,413 - 88,413
Loans and advances to customers excluding reverse
repos at amortised COSt .........ovveeirirerieieeireeirieins 2,452,206 - 2,452,206 (565,472) 1,886,734
10,870,637 - 10,870,637 (565,472) 10,305,165
At 31 December 2015
DEIVALIVES 1...vooovveriseessssssessssessse s essssssssnssnnes 3,329,812 - 3,329,812 - 3,329,812
Reverse repurchase, securities borrowing and similar
agreements classified as: ... 2,963,845 - 2,963,845 - 2,963,845
- loans and advances to banks at amortised cost.... 2,963,845 - 2,963,845 - 2,963,845
- loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Loans and advances to customers excluding reverse
repos at amortiSEd COSt ...cvvvverereeririeieeerireeieenens 3,621,552 - 3,621,552 (646,924) 2,974,628
9,915,209 - 9,915,209 (646,924) 9,268,285
Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements
Amounts not
set off in the
balance sheet
Gross
amounts of Gross
recognised amounts Cash
financial offset in the Amounts presented collateral
liabilities  balance sheet in the balance sheet pledged Net amount
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
At 31 December 2016
DErVALIVES ... 4,896,867 - 4,896,867 - 4,896,867
At 31 December 2015
DErVALIVES .....oveiiriiiceeie e 3,607,128 - 3,607,128 - 3,607,128

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle

the liability simultaneously (‘the offset criteria’).
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Derivatives and reverse repurchase/repurchase agreements included in the amounts not set off in the balance sheet column relate

to transactions where:

— the counterparty has an offsetting exposure with the Bank and a master netting or similar arrangement is in place with a
right of set off only in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy, or the offset criteria are otherwise not satisfied; and

— cash and non-cash collateral received/pledged in respect of the transactions described above. The Bank offsets certain loans
and advances to customers and customer accounts when the offset criteria are met and the amounts presented above represent
this subset of the total amounts recognised in the balance sheet. Of this subset, the loans and advances to customers and
customer accounts included in amounts not set off in the balance sheet column primarily relate to transactions where the
counterparty has an offsetting exposure with the Bank and an agreement is in place with the right of offset but the offset
criteria are otherwise not satisfied.

32 Assets charged as security for liabilities and collateral accepted as security for assets

33

Collateral accepted as security for assets:

The fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that the Bank is permitted to sell or repledge in the absence of default is
AED 3,859,692 thousand (2015: AED 2,963,845 thousand). The fair value of any such collateral that have been sold or repledged
is AED Nil (2015: AED Nil). The Bank is obliged to return these assets. These transactions are conducted under terms that are
usual and customary to standard securities borrowing and reverse repurchase agreements.

Subordinated liabilities

34

On 23 December 2009, a sub-ordinated loan of AED 2,754 million was provided by the Bank's Head Office. The loan carries an
interest rate of Libor plus 320bps (2015: Libor plus 320bps) payable annually and full principal amount of the facility is to be
repaid in December 2019. The loan was repriced to an interest rate of Libor plus 366bps on 23 December 2016. The Bank has
the option to repay the loan, all or part only (together with accrued interest thereon), on any interest payment date falling in or
after December 2016. The Central Bank of the UAE has approved the loan to be considered as Tier 2 capital for regulatory
purposes. The balance includes accrued interest payable of AED 3,367 thousand (2015: AED 2,979 thousand).

35

Cash and cash equivalents

2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Cash and balances at central DanK ............ccooeviiince s 8,109,427 8,891,364
Loans and advances to banks maturing within 3 months............cccccvriiinnnnccieeee 11,326,177 9,359,902

Central Bank certificates of deposit and other financial investments maturing within three
MONENS ... 6,687,458 11,944,461
26,123,062 30,195,727

Risk management

All the Bank’s activities involve, to varying degrees, the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and active management of risks or
combinations of risks. The key financial risks that the Bank is exposed to are credit risk (including cross-border country risk),
market risk (predominantly foreign exchange and interest rate risks) and liquidity risk. The Bank is also exposed to operational
risk in various forms (including technology, projects, process, people, security and fraud risks). The Bank continues to enhance
its capabilities and coverage of financial crime control. Other risks that the Bank is actively managing include legal risk,
reputational risk, pensions risk, strategic risk (direction and execution) and ensuring the Bank complies with various regulatory
requirements or takes necessary actions where it is not yet doing so.

Risk governance and ownership
An established risk governance and ownership structure ensures oversight of, and accountability for, the effective management
of risk at the HSBC Group, regional and global business level. The risk management framework fosters the continuous monitoring

of the risk environment and an integrated evaluation of risks and their interactions. Integral to the Bank’s risk management
framework are the enterprise tools of Risk Appetite, Top and Emerging (‘T&E’) Risks, Risk Map and Stress Testing.
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The HBME Board approves the Bank’s risk appetite framework, plans and performance targets for the Bank and its principal
operating subsidiaries, the appointment of senior officers, the delegation of authorities for credit and other risks and the
establishment of effective control procedures. The Audit and Risk Committees are responsible for advising the HBME Board on
material risk matters and providing non-executive oversight of risks. Under authority delegated by the HBME Board, the
separately convened Risk Management Meeting (‘RMM?’) chaired by the UAE CRO (who reports to MENA CRO) formulates
high-level Bank risk management policy and oversees the implementation of risk appetite and controls. The RMM together with
the Asset and Liability Committee (*ALCO’) monitors all categories of risk, receives reports on actual performance and emerging
issues, determines action to be taken and reviews the efficacy of the Bank’s risk management framework.

Risk culture

The Bank’s strong risk governance reflects the importance placed by the Board on managing risks effectively. It is supported by
a clear policy framework of risk ownership and by the accountability of all staff for identifying, assessing and managing risks
within the scope of their assigned responsibilities. This personal accountability, reinforced by the governance structure,
experience and mandatory learning, helps to foster a disciplined and constructive culture of risk management and control
throughout the Bank. Personal accountability is also reinforced by the Bank’s values, with staff expected to be:

- dependable, doing the right thing;
- open to different ideas and culture; and

- connected to our customers, regulators and each other.
Risk appetite

Risk appetite, a key component of the Bank's risk management framework, is approved by the Board and describes the types and
levels of risk that the Bank is prepared to accept in executing the Bank’s strategy. The Bank's risk appetite is set out in the Bank’s
Risk Appetite Statement and is central to the annual planning process. Global businesses as well as countries are required to
articulate their Risk Appetite Statements which are aligned with the Bank strategy.

Risk Appetite metrics are broadly categorized as Quantitative (earnings, risk weighted assets, revenue, funding, credit risk, traded
risk, operational & business risk, financial crime and regulatory compliance) and Qualitative (financials, operating model and
business practice) metrics. Measurements against the metrics serve to:

- guide underlying business activity, ensuring it is aligned to risk appetite statements;
- determine risk-adjusted remuneration;

- enable the key underlying assumptions to be monitored and, where necessary, adjusted through subsequent business planning
cycles; and

- promptly identify business decisions needed to mitigate risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk management

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty fails to meet an obligation under a contract. It arises principally
from direct lending, trade finance and leasing business, but also from off-balance sheet products such as guarantees and
derivatives, and from the Bank’s holdings of debt and other securities. Credit risk generates the largest regulatory capital
requirement of the risks the Bank incurs.

HSBC Holdings plc is responsible for the formulation of high-level credit risk policies and provides high-level centralised
oversight and management of credit risk for the HSBC Group worldwide. In addition its responsibilities include:

- Controlling exposures to sovereign entities, banks and other financial institutions, as well as debt securities which are not
held solely for the purpose of trading.

- Monitoring intra-HSBC Group exposures to ensure they are maintained within regulatory limits.

- Controlling cross-border exposures, through the imposition of country limits with sub-limits by maturity and type of
business. Country limits are determined by taking into account economic and political factors, and applying local business
knowledge. Transactions with countries deemed to be higher risk are considered case by case.

Within the Bank, the Credit Risk function is headed by the Regional Heads of Credit & Market Risk (for wholesale) and Retail
Banking & Wealth Management Risk (for retail) who report to the MENA CRO.
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The Bank’s local management is responsible for:
- Formulating and recording detailed credit policies and procedures, consistent with HSBC Group policy.

- Issuing policy guidelines to subsidiaries and offices on appetite for credit risk exposure to specified market sectors, activities
and banking products and controlling exposures to certain high-risk sectors.

- Undertaking independent review and objective assessment of risk. Credit Risk assesses all commercial non-bank credit
facilities and exposures over designated limits, prior to the facilities being committed to customers or transactions being
undertaken.

- Monitoring the performance and management of portfolios.

- Maintaining policy on large credit exposures, ensuring that concentrations of exposure by counterparty, sector or geography
do not become excessive in relation to the Bank’s capital base and remain within internal and regulatory limits.

- Maintaining and developing the governance and operation of HSBC Group’s risk rating framework and systems, to classify
exposures.

- Reporting on retail portfolio performance, high risk portfolios, risk concentrations, country limits and cross-border
exposures, large impaired accounts, impairment allowances and stress testing results and recommendations to the RMM, the
Audit and Risk Committee and the HBME Board of Directors.

- Acting on behalf of the Bank as the primary interface, for credit-related issues, with external parties including the rating
agencies, corporate analysts, trade associations etc.

The Bank is required to implement credit policies, procedures and lending guidelines that meet local requirements while
conforming to the HSBC Group standards.

Credit quality

The Bank’s credit risk rating systems and processes differentiate exposures in order to highlight those with greater risk factors
and higher potential severity of loss. In the case of individually significant accounts, risk ratings are reviewed regularly and any
amendments are implemented promptly. Within the Bank’s retail business, risk is assessed and managed using a wide range of
risk and pricing models to generate portfolio data.

The Bank’s risk rating system facilitates the Internal Ratings Based (‘IRB’) approach for portfolio management purposes.

Special attention is paid to problem exposures in order to accelerate remedial action. Where appropriate, the Bank uses specialist
units to provide customers with support in order to help them avoid default wherever possible.

Periodic risk-based audits of the Bank's credit processes and portfolios are also undertaken by an independent function.
Impairment assessment

Impairment allowances may be assessed and created either for individually significant accounts or, on a collective basis, for
groups of individually significant accounts for which no evidence of impairment has been individually identified or for high-
volume groups of homogeneous loans that are not considered individually significant.

When impairment losses occur, the Bank reduces the carrying amount of loans and advances through the use of an allowance
account. When impairment of available-for-sale financial assets and held-to-maturity financial investments occurs, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced directly.

Write-off of loans and advances

Loans are normally written off, either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of further recovery. For secured
loans, write-off generally occurs after receipt of any proceeds from the realisation of security.

Unsecured personal facilities, including credit cards, are generally written off at between 150 and 210 days past due, the standard
period being the end of the month in which the account becomes 180 days contractually delinquent. Write-off periods may be
extended, generally to no more than 360 days past due but in very exceptional circumstances exceeding that figure, where local
regulation or legislation constrain earlier writeoff, or where the realisation of collateral for secured real estate lending extends to
this time.

In the event of bankruptcy or analogous proceedings, write-off may occur earlier than at the periods stated above. Collections
procedures may continue after write-off.
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Refinance risk

Many types of lending require the repayment of a significant proportion of the principal at maturity. Typically, the mechanism
of repayment for the customer is through the acquisition of a new loan to settle the existing debt. Refinance risk arises where a
customer is unable to repay such term debt on maturity, or to refinance debt at commercial rates. When there is evidence that this
risk may apply to a specific contract, the Bank may need to refinance the loan on concessionary terms that it would not otherwise
have considered, in order to recoup the maximum possible cash flows from the contract and potentially avoid the customer
defaulting on the repayment of principal. When there is sufficient evidence that borrowers, based on their current financial
capabilities, may fail at maturity to repay or refinance their loans, these loans are disclosed as impaired with recognition of a
corresponding impairment allowance where appropriate.

Cross-border exposures

Management assesses the vulnerability of countries to foreign currency payment restrictions, including economic and political
factors, when considering impairment allowances on cross-border exposures. Impairment allowances are assessed in respect of
all qualifying exposures within these countries unless these exposures and the inherent risks are:

- performing, trade-related and of less than one year’s maturity;
- mitigated by acceptable security cover which is, other than in exceptional cases, held outside the country concerned,;

- in the form of securities held for trading purposes for which a liquid and active market exists, and which are measured at
fair value daily; and

- performing facilities with a principal (excluding security) of US$1 million or below and/or with maturity dates shorter than
three months.

Credit exposure
Maximum exposure to credit risk

The Bank’s exposure to credit risk is spread across a broad range of asset classes, including derivatives, trading assets, loans and
advances to customers, loans and advances to banks, and financial investments.

The following table presents our maximum exposure to credit risk from balance sheet and off-balance sheet financial instruments
before taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements (unless such enhancements meet accounting offsetting
requirements). For financial assets recognised on the balance sheet, the maximum exposure to credit risk equals their carrying
amount; for financial guarantees and similar contracts granted, it is the maximum amount that we would have to pay if the
guarantees were called upon. For loan commitments and other credit-related commitments, it is generally the full amount of the
committed facilities.

The offset in the table relate to amounts where there is a legally enforceable right of offset in the event of counterparty default

and where, as a result, there is a net exposure for credit risk purposes. However, as there is no intention to settle these balances
on a net basis under normal circumstances, they do not qualify for net presentation for accounting purposes.

48



HSBC BANK MIDDLE EAST LIMITED - UAE Operations

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

In the case of derivatives and reverse repos the offset column also includes collateral received in cash and other financial assets.

At 31 December 2016

At 31 December 2015

Maximum Offset Exposure to Maximum Offset Exposure to
exposure credit risk (net) exposure credit risk (net)
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Cash and balances at central bank.... 8,109,427 - 8,109,427 8,891,364 - 8,891,364
Trading assets ......cccccevvrvrvreeererenenenns 624,212 - 624,212 429,871 - 429,871
debt SECUNItIes .......ccvvvvevereiiieinens 335,451 - 335,451 365,794 - 365,794
loans and advances to customers .. 288,761 - 288,761 64,077 - 64,077
DEerivatiVesS .....cccovveveevririeisieninnnnns 4,558,739 - 4,558,739 3,329,812 - 3,329,812
Loans and advances held at amortised
COSE vttt 78,405,947 (565,472) 77,840,475 81,414,883 (646,924) 80,767,959
loans and advances to banks.......... 15,472,758 - 15,472,758 13,553,668 - 13,553,668
loans and advances to customers... 62,933,189 (565,472) 62,367,717 67,861,215 (646,924) 67,214,291
Reverse repurchase agreements- non-
trading ..ooeeveveee 3,859,692 - 3,859,692 2,963,845 - 2,963,845
Financial investments ...........cc.ccc..... 16,110,930 - 16,110,930 17,649,352 - 17,649,352
other investments .........ccocoeveverienene - - - - - -
debt securities...........cocevevevvrrrrerenenn, 16,110,930 - 16,110,930 17,649,352 - 17,649,352
Other assetS........ccoveevverereevieisiennns 1,389,784 1,389,784 1,946,474 1,946,474
endorsements and acceptances ...... 1,070,093 - 1,070,093 1,564,989 - 1,564,989
accrued income and other ............. 319,691 - 319,691 381,485 - 381,485
Financial guarantees and similar
CONEFACES ..vveveeiieieecee e 13,107,161 - 13,107,161 13,421,802 - 13,421,802
Loan commitments and other credit-
related commitments.............ccceveee 42,936,085 - 42,936,085 48,074,182 - 48,074,182
169,101,977 (565,472) 168,536,505 178,121,585 (646,924) 177,474,661

Collateral and other credit enhancements held
Loans and advances held at amortised cost

Although collateral can be an important mitigant of credit risk, it is the Bank’s practice to lend on the basis of the customer’s
ability to meet their obligations out of cash flow resources rather than rely on the value of security offered. Depending on the
customer’s standing and the type of product, facilities may be provided without security. However, for other lending a charge
over collateral is obtained and considered in determining the credit decision and pricing. In the event of default, the bank may
utilise the collateral as a source of repayment. Depending on its form, collateral can have a significant financial effect in mitigating
the Bank’s exposure to credit risk.

The tables below provide a quantification of the value of fixed charges the Bank holds over a borrower’s specific asset (or assets)
where the Bank has a history of enforcing, and are able to enforce, the collateral in satisfying a debt in the event of the borrower
failing to meet its contractual obligations, and where the collateral is cash or can be realised by sale in an established market. The
collateral valuation in the tables below excludes any adjustments for obtaining and selling the collateral.

The Bank may also manage its risk by employing other types of collateral and credit risk enhancements, such as second charges,
other liens and unsupported guarantees, but the valuation of such mitigants is less certain and therefore the level of collateral on
the remaining balance of loans and advances to customers has not been quantified. In particular, loans shown in the tables below
as not collateralised or partially collateralised may benefit from such credit mitigants.
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Personal lending — Residential mortgages by level of collateral:

2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Non-impaired loans and advances
UNCOHALEIAIISEA ......cveviecte ittt 23,956 22,701
FUIlY CONALErAlISEA ....o.vvveeeeeiiieieee et 6,580,682 6,400,807
Less than 50% 108N t0 VAIUE (‘LTV”) o 1,709,790 1,685,342
519% to 60% LTV 1,015,790 1,016,002
61% to 70% LTV 1,448,567 1,291,922
71% to 80% LTV 1,855,770 1,504,140
81%1t0 90% LTV ... . 467,488 761,890
9190 10 10090 LTV oottt bbbt 83,277 141,511
Partially collaterised
Greater than 1009 LTV (A) ettt 242,442 156,716
10190 10 11090 LTV oottt 54,454 45,201
11190 10 12090 LTV oottt bbbttt 39,887 14,942
Greater than 12090 LTV ..ottt 148,101 96,574
COollateral ValUE ON A ..ottt ettt sa et re b ne b 140,713 134,421
TOTAL .tttk b bbbt n e 6,847,080 6,580,224
Impaired loans and advances
FUIlY CONALErAlISEA ......oveeieiiiieet e 174,042 162,396
Less than 50% 10an £0 VAIUE (‘LTV") oo senenens 59,580 64,231
51% t0 60% LTV oevevievieeeieeiae . 1,791 17,829
61%to 70% LTV ... 38,837 26,239
71%1t0 80% LTV ... . 10,046 14,668
819010 9090 LTV oivitieieieieiiieete ettt bbbt 32,058 20,714
9190 10 10090 LTV ottt bbbt 31,730 18,716
Partially collaterised
Greater than 1009 LTV (A) .ocoeoerveeeiirisiee et esesesesssse s ssssssesesesessssssssesesessssesesessnsens 266,163 66,737
10190 10 11090 LTV ottt ettt 36,357 4,320
111%to 120% LTV ... . 44,123 9,764
Greater than 12090 LTV ...ttt 185,683 52,653
COllAteral VAIUE ON A ...ttt 232,114 48,063
TOTAL .t 440,205 229,132
Total residential MOIGAGES ......oveveeeirieiririeie ettt 7,287,285 6,809,356

The above table shows residential mortgage lending including off-balance sheet loan commitments by level of collateral. The
collateral included in the table above consists of fixed first charges on real estate.

The LTV ratio is calculated as the gross on-balance sheet carrying amount of the loan and any off-balance sheet loan commitment
at the balance sheet date divided by the value of collateral. The methodologies for obtaining residential property collateral values
are typically determined through a combination of professional appraisals, house price indices or statistical analysis. The
collateral valuation excludes any adjustments for obtaining and selling the collateral. Annual professional appraisals are
conducted when a loan is identified and assessed as impaired.

Personal lending — Other personal lending:

The other personal lending consists primarily of credit cards and second lien portfolios. Credit cards and overdrafts are generally
unsecured. Second lien lending is supported by collateral but the claim on the collateral is subordinate to the first lien charge.

Corporate and commercial and financial (non-banking) lending:

Collateral held is analysed below for commercial real estate and other corporate, and commercial and financial (non-bank)
lending. This reflects the difference in collateral held on the portfolios.
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Commercial real estate:

The following table shows commercial real estate lending including off-balance sheet loan commitments by level of collateral.

2016 2015

AEDO000 AEDO000

RAtEA CRRIEL 110 7ottt ettt bbb ss sttt se s b s bebenennas 1,189,420 1,479,737
UNCOIALEIAIISEU .....cvovveviieiiieiieieees ettt e e b e te b enennen 1,079,609 1,348,221
FUILY CONALEIAlISEA .......ceeveeieieie ettt 109,811 131,516
Partially CONAEraliSEU .........ciiiiiiiiiiieee bbb E E

= COMALEIAI VAIUE ...ttt nnen - -
Rated CRR/EL 810 10 ...icvivcvcviiiiieieteeet sttt sttt et sn bbb s s st neneas 726,497 709,420
Uncollateralised 14,335 19,818
FUILY CONALEIAlISEA .......ceeveeieieie ettt 712,161 25,168
Partially CONAEraliSEU ..........cviiiiiieieiirice e 1 664,434

= COALErAl VAIUE ....veeeieieeee et - 325,467

The collateral included in the table above consists of fixed first charges on real estate. The value of commercial real estate
collateral is determined through a combination of professional and internal valuations and physical inspection. Indexation for
commercial real estate is not generally undertaken because reliable, sufficiently granular indices are not available. Due to the
complexity of collateral valuations for commercial real estate these valuations are refreshed less frequently, with local valuation
policies determining the frequency of review based on local market conditions. Typically revaluations are sought where, as part
of the regular credit assessment of the obligor, material concerns arise in relation to the transaction which may reflect on the
underlying performance of the collateral. Revaluations also occur commonly in circumstances where an obligor’s credit quality
has declined sufficiently to cause concern that the principal payment source may not fully meet the obligation (i.e. the obligor’s
credit quality classification indicates it is at the lower end e.g. sub-standard, or approaching impaired). The collateral valuations
reported above exclude any adjustments for obtaining and selling the collateral.

Other corporate and commercial and financial (non-bank) lending:

The following table shows corporate and commercial and financial (non-bank) lending including off-balance sheet loan
commitments by level of collateral.

2016 2015

AEDO000 AEDO000

Rated CRR/EL 810 10....c.ccuiiitiieiiiieei ittt sttt sb bbb b st e enenan 4,326,732 4,072,461
UNCOIIALEIAIISEA ....cveviviieiiiciceicecte ettt st e s e be s be b sesaens 2,275,798 1,958,329
Fully collateralised 479,642 492,184
Partially CONAEraliSEU .........cooiiriiiieieiiiee et 1,571,292 1,621,948

= COMALEIAI VAIUE ...ttt sttt saens 243,949 203,865

The collateral used in the assessment of the above primarily includes first legal charges over real estate and charges over cash in
the commercial and industrial sector, and charges over cash and marketable financial instruments in the financial sector.
Government sector lending is generally unsecured.

It should be noted that the table above excludes other types of charge which are commonly taken for corporate and commercial
lending such as unsupported guarantees and floating charges over the assets of a customer’s business. While such mitigants have
utility, often providing rights in insolvency, their assignable value is insufficiently certain. They are assigned no value for
disclosure purposes.

The collateral valuation will exclude any adjustments with respect to obtaining and selling the collateral.

Loans and advances to banks

Loans and advances to banks including off-balance sheet loan commitments in the CRR/EL 9 - 10 category had nil collateral.

Other credit risk exposures

In addition to collateralised lending described above, other credit enhancements are employed and methods used to mitigate
credit risk arising from financial assets. These are described in more detail below.

Government, bank and other financial institution issued securities may benefit from additional credit enhancement, notably
through government guarantees that references these assets.
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The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk includes financial guarantees and similar arrangement that it issues or enters into,
and loan commitments that it is irrevocably committed to. Depending on the terms of the arrangement, the Bank may have
recourse to additional credit mitigation in the event that a guarantee is called upon or a loan commitment is drawn and
subsequently defaults.

Concentration of exposure

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties or exposure have comparable economic characteristics, or
such counterparties are engaged in similar activities, or operate in the same geographical areas or industry sectors, so that their
collective ability to meet contractual obligations is uniformly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. The
Bank uses a number of controls and measures to minimize undue concentration of exposure in its portfolios across industry,
country and global businesses. These include portfolio and counterparty limits, approval and review controls, and stress testing.

Wrong-way risk is an aggravated form of concentration risk and arises when there is a strong correlation between the
counterparty’s probability of default and the mark-to-market value of the underlying transaction. We use a range of procedures
to monitor and control wrong-way risk, including requiring entities to obtain prior approval before undertaking wrong-way risk
transactions outside pre-agreed guidelines.

The Bank provides a diverse range of financial services in the UAE. As a result, its portfolio of financial instruments with credit
risk is diversified, with no exposures to individual industries or economic groupings totalling more than 10% of total assets,
except as follows:

- the majority of the Bank’s exposure to credit risk is concentrated in the UAE. Within the UAE, the Bank’s credit risk is
diversified over a wide range of industrial and economic groupings; and

- the Bank’s position as part of a major international banking group means, that it has a significant concentration of exposure
to banking counterparties. The majority of credit risk to the banking industry at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015
was concentrated in the Middle East and Europe.

Loans and advances

Loans and advances to banks were widely distributed across major institutions.

Gross loans and advances to customers by industry sector

Gross loans and advances to customers

2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000

Personal
RESIAENTIAl MOMGAGES ....vvvvveieieiirieieie ettt sttt ettt n et e e e 7,275,423 6,809,356
Other personal 5,694,163 7,041,881
12,969,586 13,851,237

Corporate and commercial

Commercial, industrial and international trade ............ccccveieieiereiieiicee e 20,711,962 24,999,906
CoOmMMEICIAl FEAI ESALE ......cveviiieiiieie ettt ettt st ae b ne b s e 1,851,988 2,189,156
Other Property-related ...........ooceiiieee bbb bbb s 5,064,023 4,548,337
Government 4,537,431 5,745,777
Other COMMEICIAL .......cvoiiiiiieeciee ettt b et re s en b s e 12,087,733 11,254,260
44,253,137 48,737,436

Financial
Non-bank financial INStIULIONS .........ccovciiiiiiiiiiee et 9,679,706 9,456,019
9,679,706 9,456,019
Total gross loans and advanCes t0 CUSTOMETS ..........ccvvriririereeririsiseeeeeseesessssesesesesessesesesessssesesens 66,902,429 72,044,692
Impaired loans 5,019,662 4,823,111
- as a percentage of gross loans and advances to customers 7.50% 6.69%
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Credit quality of financial instruments

The five credit quality classifications defined below each encompass a range of more granular, internal credit rating grades
assigned to wholesale and retail lending business, as well as the external rating, attributed by external agencies to debt securities.

There is no direct correlation between the internal and external ratings at granular level, except to the extent each falls within
a single quality classification.

Credit quality classification

Wholesale Retail lending Debt securities/other
Quiality classification Internal credit rating  Internal credit rating* External credit rating
SEIONG .. CRR1to CRR2 EL1toEL?2 A- and above
Good............ " CRR 3 EL 3 BBB+ to BBB-
SALISTACIONY .ovvveceee e CRR4t0CRR5 EL4toELS BB+ to B and unrated
SUD = StANAAI. .....c.cvviiiccc s CRR6to CRR 8 EL6toELS8 B-toC
IMPAITE ... CRR9to CRR 10 EL 9to EL 10 Default

1 We observe the disclosure convention that, in addition to those classified as EL9 to EL10, retail accounts classified EL1 to EL8 that are delinquent
by 90 days or more are considered impaired, unless individually they have been assessed as not impaired (see ‘Past due but not impaired gross
financial instruments’).

Quality classification definitions

‘Strong’: exposures demonstrate a strong capacity to meet financial commitments, with negligible or low probability of default
and/or low levels of expected loss.

‘Good’: exposures require closer monitoring and demonstrate a good capacity to meet financial commitments, with low default
risk.

‘Satisfactory’: exposures require closer monitoring and demonstrate an average to fair capacity to meet financial commitments,
with moderate default risk.

‘Sub-standard’: exposures require varying degrees of special attention and default risk is of greater concern.

‘Impaired’: exposures have been assessed as impaired. These also include retail accounts classified as EL1 to EL8 that are
delinquent by more than 90 days, unless individually they have been assessed as not impaired; and renegotiated loans that have
met the requirements to be disclosed as impaired and have not yet met the criteria to be returned to the unimpaired portfolio.

Risk rating scales

The Customer Risk Rating (‘CRR’) 10-grade scale above summarises a more granular underlying 23-grade scale of obligor
probability of default (‘PD’). All distinct Bank customers use the 10 or 23-grade scale, depending on the degree of
sophistication of the Basel 11 approach adopted for the exposure.

The Expected Loss (*EL’) 10-grade scale for retail business summarises a more granular underlying EL scale for these customer
segments; this combines obligor and facility/product risk factors in a composite measure.

For debt securities and certain other financial instruments, external ratings have been aligned to the five quality classifications.
The ratings of Standard and Poor’s are cited, with those of other agencies being treated equivalently. Debt securities with short-
term issue ratings are reported against the long-term rating of the issuer of those securities. If major rating agencies have
different ratings for the same debt securities, a prudent rating selection is made in line with regulatory requirements.

For the purpose of the following disclosure, retail loans which are past due up to 89 days and are not otherwise classified as
EL9 or EL10, are not disclosed within the EL grade to which they relate but are separately classified as past due but not
impaired.

The following tables set out the Bank’s distribution of financial instruments by measures of credit quality.
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Distribution of financial instruments by credit quality

Cash and balances at
central bank .............

Trading assets

—treasury and other
eligible

— debt securities .

— loans and
advances to
banks ..............

— loans and
advances to
customers .......

Derivatives ..............

Loans and advances
held at amortised cost
— loans and
advances to
banks ..............
— loans and
advances to
customers .......

Reverse repurchase
agreements - non-
trading.............c....

Financial investments
— treasury and
other eligible
bills ...ocvveee
— debt securities .

Other assets..............
— endorsements
and acceptances
— accrued income
and other ........

31 December 2016

Neither past due nor impaired

Past
Sub- due not Impairment
Strong Good  Satisfactory Standard impaired Impaired allowances Total
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
8,109,427 - - - - - - 8,109,427
251,627 91,868 275,012 5,705 - - - 624,212
208,893 91,868 28,985 5,705 - - - 335,451
- - 164,649 - - - - 164,649
42,734 - 81,378 - - - - 124,112
684,779 1,150,283 2,713,556 10,121 - - - 4,558,739
35,031,916 16,794,586 21,146,583 1,549,910 2,681,218 5,170,976 (3,969,242) 78,405,947
5,763,422 || 1,161,979 8,494,886 52,471 - - - 15,472,758
29,268,494 || 15,632,607 12,651,697 1,497,439 2,681,218 5,170,976 (3,969,242) 62,933,189
2,042,940 1,816,752 - - - - - 3,859,692
6,061,588 - 10,049,342 - - - - 16,110,930
- - 548,473 - - - - 548,473
6,061,588 - 9,500,869 - - - - 15,562,457
41,157 395,716 818,151 53,482 19,403 61,875 - 1,389,784
38,541 395,694 504,133 53,482 16,368 61,875 - 1,070,093
2,616 22 314,018 - 3,035 - - 319,691
52,223,434 20,249,205 35,002,644 1,619,218 2,700,621 5,232,851 (3,969,242) 113,058,731
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31 December 2015

Neither past due nor impaired

Past
Sub- due not Impairment
Strong Good Satisfactory Standard impaired Impaired allowances Total
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Cash and balances at
central bank ............. 8,891,364 - - - - - - 8,891,364
Trading assets .......... 243,827 80,304 98,044 7,696 - - - 429,871
— treasury and
other eligible
bills............... - - - - - - - -
— debt securities ... 243,827 80,304 33,967 7,696 - - - 365,794
- loans and 42,179
advances to
banks .......c...... - - 42,179 - - - -
— loans and 21,898
advances to
customers .......... - - 21,898 - - - -
Derivatives ............... 648,614 818,704 1,836,389 26,105 - - - 3,329,812
Loans and advances
held at amortised cost 31,007,899 24,853,137 21,884,795 1,748,500 1,187,068 4,916,961 (4,183,477) 81,414,883
— loans and
advances to
banks ............... 3,696,089 || 3,713,131 6,075,902 68,546 - - - 13,553,668
— loans and
advances to
customers .......... 27,311,810 || 21,140,006 15,808,893 1,679,954 1,187,068 4,916,961 (4,183,477) 67,861,215
Reverse repurchase
agreements - non-
trading.............. 1,625,568 1,338,277 - - - - - 2,963,845
Financial investments 8,095,163 - 9,554,189 - - - - 17,649,352
— treasury and
4,101,279 - 1,457,819 - - - - 5,559,098
— debt securities ... 3,993,884 - 8,096,370 - - - - 12,090,254
Other assets............... 35,168 731,020 1,088,117 72,279 11,715 8,175 - 1,946,474
— endorsements
and acceptances 34,839 730,745 712,585 72,279 6,366 8,175 - 1,564,989
— accrued income
and other ........... 329 275 375,532 - 5,349 - - 381,485
Total ..o 50,547,603 27,821,442 34,461,534 1,854,580 1,198,783 4,925,136 (4,183,477) 116,625,601

Past due but not impaired gross financial instruments

Past due but not impaired loans are those for which the customer is in the early stages of delinquency and has failed to make a
payment, or a partial payment, in accordance with the contractual terms of the loan agreement. This is typically where a loan is
less than 90 days past due and there are no other indicators of impairment.

Examples of exposures past due but not impaired include overdue loans fully secured by cash collateral; mortgages that are
individually assessed for impairment, and that are in arrears more than 90 days, but where the value of collateral is sufficient to
repay both the principal debt and all potential interest for at least one year; and short-term trade facilities past due more than 90
days for technical reasons such as delays in documentation, but where there is no concern over the creditworthiness of the
counterparty.

The following table provides an analysis of gross loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost which are past due but
not considered impaired. There are no other significant balance sheet items where past due balances are not considered impaired.
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Up to 30-59 60-89 90-179 Over
29 days days days days 180 days Total
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
At 31 December 2016 ................cc..ee 2,229,208 178,354 220,751 24,290 28,616 2,681,219
At 31 December 2015 ............oeeunininne 661,753 145,401 284,076 84,299 11,539 1,187,068

Renegotiated loans and forbearance

A range of forbearance strategies are employed in order to improve the management of customer relationships, maximise
collection opportunities and, if possible, avoid default, foreclosure or repossession. They include extended payment terms, a
reduction in interest or principal repayments, approved external debt management plans, debt consolidations, the deferral of
foreclosures, and other forms of loan modifications and re-ageing.

HSBC Group’s policies and practices are based on criteria which enable local management to judge whether repayment is likely
to continue. These typically provide a customer with terms and conditions that are more favourable than those provided initially.
Loan forbearance is only granted in situations where the customer has showed a willingness to repay the borrowing and is expected
to be able to meet the revised obligations. For retail lending our credit risk management policy sets out restrictions on the number
and frequency of renegotiations, the minimum period an account must have been opened before any renegotiation can be
considered and the number of qualifying payments that must be received. The application of this policy varies according to the
nature of the market, the product and the management of customer relationships through the occurrence of exceptional events.

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons which include changing market conditions, customer
retention and other factors not related to the current or potential credit deterioration of a customer. ‘Forbearance’ describes
concessions made on the contractual terms of a loan in response to an obligor’s financial difficulties. The Bank classify and report
loans on which concessions have been granted under conditions of credit distress as ‘renegotiated loans’ when their contractual
payment terms have been modified, because the Bank has significant concerns about the borrowers’ ability to meet contractual
payments when due. Concessions on loans made to customers which do not affect the payment structure or basis of repayment,
such as waivers of financial or security covenants, do not directly provide concessionary relief to customers in terms of their
ability to service obligations as they fall due and are therefore not included in this classification.

Identifying renegotiated loans

Loans are identified as renegotiated loans when the Bank modifies the contractual payment terms due to significant credit distress
of the borrower. ‘Forbearance’ describes concessions made on the contractual terms of a loan in response to an obligor’s financial
difficulties. The Bank classifies and report loans on which concessions have been granted under conditions of credit distress as
‘renegotiated loans’ when their contractual payment terms have been modified because the Bank has significant concerns about
the borrowers’ ability to meet contractual payments when due.

When considering modification terms, the borrower’s continued ability to repay is assessed and where they are unrelated to
payment arrangements, whilst potential indicators of impairment, these loans are not considered as renegotiated loans. Loans that
have been identified as renegotiated retain this designation until maturity or derecognition. A loan that is renegotiated is
derecognised if the existing agreement is cancelled and a new agreement is made on substantially different terms or if the terms
of an existing agreement are modified such that the renegotiated loan is substantially a different financial instrument. Any new
loans that arise following derecognition events will continue to be disclosed as renegotiated loans.

Credit quality classification of renegotiated loans

Under IFRS, an entity is required to assess whether there is objective evidence that financial assets are impaired at the end of each
reporting period. A loan is impaired when there is objective evidence of a loss event that has an effect on the cash flows of the
loan which can be reliably estimated. When the Bank grants a concession to a customer that the Bank would not otherwise
consider, as a result of its financial difficulty, this is objective evidence of impairment and impairment losses are measured
accordingly.

A renegotiated loan is presented as impaired when:

- there has been a change in contractual cash flows as a result of a concession which the lender would otherwise not consider,
and

- itis probable that without the concession, the borrower would be unable to meet contractual payment obligations in full.
This presentation applies unless the concession is insignificant and there are no other indicators of impairment.

The renegotiated loan will continue to be disclosed as impaired until there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate a significant
reduction in the risk of non-payment of future cash flows, and there are no other indicators of impairment.
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Renegotiated loans are classified as unimpaired where the renegotiation has resulted from significant concern about a borrower’s
ability to meet their contractual payment terms but the renegotiated terms are based on current market rates and contractual cash
flows are expected to be collected in full following the renegotiation. Unimpaired renegotiated loans also include previously
impaired renegotiated loans that have demonstrated satisfactory performance over a period of time or have been assessed based
on all available evidence as having no remaining indicators of impairment.

Loans that have been identified as renegotiated retain this designation until maturity or derecognition. When a loan is restructured
as part of a forbearance strategy and the restructuring results in derecognition of the existing loan, such as in some debt
consolidations, the new loan is disclosed as renegotiated.

When determining whether a loan that is restructured should be derecognised and a new loan recognised, we consider the extent
to which the changes to the original contractual terms result in the renegotiated loan, considered as a whole, being a substantially
different financial instrument.

Renegotiated loans and advances to customers

At 31 December 2016 At 31 December 2015
Neither Neither

past due Past due past due Past due

nor but not nor but not
impaired impaired  Impaired Total impaired  impaired Impaired Total
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO00  AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
Retail ...ccooeeiviiceece 48,391 4,972 151,792 205,155 104,144 20,252 90,694 215,090
- Residential mortgages .......... 38,340 435 101,946 140,721 40,997 16,442 77,295 134,734
- Other personal ......c.ccceuvveneee 10,051 4,537 49,846 64,434 63,147 3,810 13,399 80,356
Commercial real estate .............. 586,201 1,426,963 2,013,164 561,864 1,522,356 2,084,220

1,350 111,941 1,287,496 1,400,787 51,829 52,335 1,293,412 1,397,576

Corporate and commercial

Financial .......cocooovrieniinniennes 951,567 - - 951,567 655,651 88,260 - 743,911
Total renegotiated loans and

advances to CUStOMErs ............... 1,001,308 703,114 2,866,251 4,570,673 1,373,488 160,847 2,906,462 4,440,797
Total impairment allowance on

renegotiated loans............ccce...... 1,582,834 1,781,051

For retail lending, renegotiated loans are segregated from other parts of the loan portfolio for collective impairment assessment
to reflect the higher rates of losses often encountered in these segments. When empirical evidence indicates an increased
propensity to default and higher losses on such accounts, the use of roll-rate methodology ensures these factors are taken into
account when calculating impairment allowances by applying roll rates specifically calculated on the pool of loans subject to
forbearance. When the portfolio size is small or when information is insufficient or not reliable enough to adopt a roll-rate
methodology, a basic formulaic approach based on historical loss rate experience is used. As a result of our roll-rate methodology,
we recognise collective impairment allowances on homogeneous groups of loans, including renegotiated loans, where there is
historical evidence that there is a likelihood that loans in these groups will progress through the various stages of delinquency,
and ultimately prove irrecoverable as a result of events occurring before the balance sheet date. This treatment applies irrespective
of whether or not those loans are presented as impaired in accordance with our impaired loans disclosure convention. When the
Bank considers that there are additional risk factors inherent in the portfolios that may not be fully reflected in the statistical roll
rates or historical experience, these risk factors are taken into account by adjusting the impairment allowances derived solely
from statistical or historical experience.

In the corporate and commercial sectors, renegotiated loans are typically assessed individually. Credit risk ratings are intrinsic
to the impairment assessment. A distressed restructuring is classified as an impaired loan. The individual impairment assessment
takes into account the higher risk of the non-payment of future cash flows inherent in renegotiated loans.

Impaired loans

Impaired loans and advances are those that meet any of the following criteria:

- loans and advances classified as CRR 9, CRR 10, EL 9 or EL 10 (a description of our internal credit rating grades is provided
above;

- retail exposures 90 days or more past due, unless individually they have been assessed as not impaired; or
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- renegotiated loans and advances that have been subject to a change in contractual cash flows as a result of a concession
which the lender would not otherwise consider, and where it is probable that without the concession the borrower would be
unable to meet its contractual payment obligations in full, unless the concession is insignificant and there are no other
indicators of impairment. Renegotiated loans remain classified as impaired until there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate
a significant reduction in the risk of non-payment of future cash flows, and there are no other indicators of impairment.

Movement in impairment allowances on loans and advances to customers

Customers
Individually Collectively
assessed assessed Total
AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
At 1January 2016 .......ocoeeviniirneeeee e 3,321,291 862,186 4,183,477
AMOUNES WILEEN OFF ... (382,895) (365,266) (748,161)
Recoveries of loans and advances written off in previous
WBAIS vttt 17,308 59,559 76,867
Charge t0 inCome StAteMENt ..........ccoevveurivrirerereiiereseseieseeas 365,929 57,210 423,139
Exchange and other movements ..........ccccocvvvvniccceeinnnnn. (4,967) 38,885 33,918
At 31 December 2016 .........ccoorveneireniereeee s 3,316,666 652,574 3,969,240
At1January 2015 ... 2,768,605 563,718 3,332,323
AMOUNS WILEEN OFF ...oocvviecvcieieeeciee e (62,293) (251,312) (313,605)
Recoveries of loans and advances written off in previous
LT 2,951 75,301 78,252
Charge to income statement .......... 556,214 474,371 1,030,585
Exchange and other movements ... 55,814 108 55,922
At 31 DeCeMbEr 2015 .....ccovvvmeierireireeieireeiee s 3,321,291 862,186 4,183,477

Impairment allowances as a percentage of gross loans and advances to customers

At 31 December

2016 2015
% %
Customers
Individually assessed impairment allowances 4.96 4.61
Collectively assessed impairment allowances 0.98 1.20
5.94 5.81

Liquidity and funding risk management framework

The Bank has an internal liquidity and funding risk management framework (‘LFRF’) which aims to allow it to withstand very
severe liquidity stresses. It is designed to be adaptable to changing business models, markets and regulations.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank does not have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due, or will
have to do so at an excessive cost. The risk arises from mismatches in the timing of cash flows. Funding risk (a form of liquidity
risk) arises when the liquidity needed to fund illiquid asset positions cannot be obtained on the expected terms and when required.

Funding risk is the risk that funding considered to be sustainable (and therefore used to fund assets) proves not to be sustainable
over time.

The management of liquidity and funding is primarily undertaken locally (by country) in the operating entities in compliance with
the Bank’s LFRF, and with practices and limits set by the Group Management Board (‘GMB’) through the RMM and approved
by the Holdings Board for 'RMM operating entities'. The UAE branch of the bank is one such operating entity.

Limits for non-RMM operating entities are established by the intermediate parent company ALCO. The HBME ALCO is
responsible for setting limits for the Bank non-RMM operating entities. The Bank's general policy is that each defined operating
entity should be self-sufficient in funding its own activities. Where transactions exist between operating entities, they are reflected
symmetrically in both entities.

As part of the Asset, Liability and Capital Management (“ALCM’) structure, the Bank has established ALCOs at Group level, in
the regions and in operating entities. The terms of reference of all ALCOs include the monitoring and control of liquidity and
funding.
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The primary responsibility for managing liquidity and funding within the Bank’s framework and risk appetite resides with the
local operating entities’ ALCOs, Holdings ALCO and the RMM. Our most significant operating entities are overseen by HBME
ALCO, HSBC Group ALCO and the HSBC Group Risk Management Meeting. The remaining smaller operating entities are
overseen by HBME ALCO, with appropriate escalation of significant issues to HSBC Group ALCO and the HSBC Group Risk
Management Meeting.

Operating entities are predominately defined on a country basis to reflect the Bank's local management of liquidity and funding.

Primary sources of funding

Customer deposits in the form of current accounts and savings deposits payable on demand or at short notice form a significant
part of our funding, and the Bank places considerable importance on maintaining their stability. For deposits, stability depends
upon maintaining depositor confidence in our capital strength and liquidity, and on competitive and transparent pricing. Of total
liabilities of AED 100,489 million at 31 December 2016, funding from customers amounted to AED 60,793million, of which
AED 60,776 million was contractually repayable within one year. An analysis of cash flows payable by the Bank under financial
liabilities by remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date is included in Note 30.

Assets available to meet these liabilities, and to cover outstanding commitments to lend (AED 113, 973million), included cash,
central bank balances, items in the course of collection and treasury and other bills (AED 548 million); loans to banks (AED
15,519 million, including AED 13,498million repayable within one year); and loans to customers (AED 62,887 million, including
AED 37,120 million repayable within one year). In the normal course of business, a proportion of customer loans contractually
repayable within one year will be extended.

The Bank also accesses wholesale funding markets by issuing senior secured and unsecured debt securities (publicly and privately)
and borrowing from the secured repo markets against high quality collateral to align asset and liability maturities and currencies
and to maintain a presence in local wholesale markets.

Ordinary share capital and retained reserves, non-core capital instruments and intergroup borrowings are also a source of stable
funding.

Liquidity coverage ratio ('LCR")
The Bank defines operational deposits as transactional (current) accounts arising from the provision of custody services by HSBC

Security Services or Global Liquidity and Cash Management, where the operational component is assessed to be the lower of the
current balance and the separate notional values of debits and credits across the account in the previous calculation period.

Unaudited Liquidity coverage ratio during:
2016 2015
% %
YEAM-ENU ...ttt e e e 241.0 217.3

Net Stable Funding Ratio

Net Stable Funding Ratio limits for major markets in which the Bank operates are set by ALCO. The ratio describes available
stable funding is derived from the liability base to the required stable funding is derived by applying haircuts to the quantum of
loan and other asset balances which require funding.

Unaudited Net Stable Funding Ratio during:
2016 2015
% %
YRA-ENM. ... 140.7 136.4

Depositor concentration and term funding maturity concentration

The LCR and NSFR metrics assume a stressed outflow based on a portfolio of depositors within each deposit segment. The
validity of these assumptions is challenged if the portfolio of depositors is not large enough to avoid depositor concentration.
Operating entities are exposed to term re-financing concentration risk if the current maturity profile results in future maturities
being overly concentrated in any defined period.

At 31 December 2016, the bank was within the risk tolerance levels set for depositor concentration and term funding maturity
concentration.
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Market risk management

Market risk is the risk that movements in market risk factors, including foreign exchange rates and commodity prices, interest
rates, credit spreads and equity prices will reduce the Bank’s income or the value of its portfolios.

The Bank’s exposure to market risk is separated into trading or non-trading portfolios. Trading portfolios include those positions
arising from market-making, position-taking and others designated as marked-to-market positions. Non-trading portfolios
include positions that primarily arise from the interest rate management of the Bank’s retail and commercial banking assets and
liabilities, financial investments designated as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity.

Market risk measures
Monitoring and limiting market risk exposures

The Bank’s objective is to manage and control market risk exposures while maintaining a market profile consistent with the
Bank’s risk appetite. The Bank uses a range of tools to monitor and limit market risk exposures, including:

- sensitivity measures include sensitivity of net interest income and sensitivity for structural foreign exchange, which are used
to monitor the market risk positions within each risk type;

- value at risk (‘VaR’) is a technique that estimates the potential losses that could occur on risk positions as a result of
movements in market rates and prices over a specified time horizon and to a given level of confidence; and

- inrecognition of VaR’s limitations the Bank augments VaR with stress testing to evaluate the potential impact on portfolio
values of more extreme, though plausible, events or movements in a set of financial variables.

Market risk is managed and controlled through limits approved by the Risk Management Meeting of the GMB for HSBC
Holdings and our various global businesses. These limits are allocated across business lines and to the HSBC Group’s legal
entities.

The management of market risk is principally undertaken in Global Markets. VaR limits are set for portfolios, products and risk
types, with market liquidity being a primary factor in determining the level of limits set.

VaR limits are set for portfolios, products and risk types, with market liquidity being a primary factor in determining the level of
limits set. HSBC Group Risk, an independent unit within HSBC Group, is responsible for our market risk management policies
and measurement techniques. The Bank has an independent market risk management and control function that is responsible for
measuring market risk exposures in accordance with the policies defined by HSBC Group Risk, and monitoring and reporting
these exposures against the prescribed limits on a daily basis.

The Bank assesses the market risks arising on each product in its business and to transfer them to either its Global Markets unit
for management, or to separate books managed under the supervision of the local ALCO. Our aim is to ensure that all market
risks are consolidated within operations that have the necessary skills, tools, management and governance to manage them
professionally. In certain cases where the market risks cannot be fully transferred, the Bank identifies the impact of varying
scenarios on valuations or on net interest income resulting from any residual risk positions.

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis measures the impact of individual market factor movements on specific instruments or portfolios, including
interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices, such as the effect of a one basis point change in yield. We use sensitivity
measures to monitor the market risk positions within each risk type. Sensitivity limits are set for portfolios, products and risk
types, with the depth of the market being one of the principal factors in determining the level of limits set.

Value at risk (‘“VAR’)

VAR is a technique that estimates the potential losses that could occur on risk positions as a result of movements in market rates
and prices over a specified time horizon and to a given level of confidence.

The VAR models used by the Bank are predominantly based on historical simulation. These models derive plausible future
scenarios from past series of recorded market rates and prices, taking into account inter-relationships between different markets
and rates, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The models also incorporate the effect of option features on the
underlying exposures.

The historical simulation models assess potential market movements with reference to data from the past two years and calculate
VAR to a 99% confidence level and for a one-day holding period.
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The Bank routinely validates the accuracy of its VAR models by back-testing the actual daily profit and loss results, adjusted to
remove non-modelled items such as fees and commissions, against the corresponding VAR numbers. Statistically, the Bank would
expect to see losses in excess of VAR only 1% of the time over a one-year period. The actual number of excesses over this period
can therefore be used to gauge how well the models are performing.

Although a valuable guide to risk, VAR should always be viewed in the context of its limitations:

the use of historical data as a proxy for estimating future events may not encompass all potential events, particularly those
which are extreme in nature;

the use of a one-day holding period assumes that all positions can be liquidated or the risks offset in one day. This may not
fully reflect the market risk arising at times of severe illiquidity, when a one-day holding period may be insufficient to
liquidate or hedge all positions fully;

the use of a 99% confidence level, by definition, does not take into account losses that might occur beyond this level of
confidence;

VAR is calculated on the basis of exposures outstanding at the close of business and therefore does not necessarily reflect
intra-day exposures; and

VAR is unlikely to reflect loss potential on exposures that only arise under significant market moves.

Trading and non-trading portfolios

The following table provides an overview of the reporting of risks within this section:

Portfolio
Trading Non-trading
Risk type
Foreign exchange and COMMOUILY ..........cououirieeiiniieieei e VAR VAR!
Interest rate VAR VAR
Credit spread VAR VAR
1. The reporting of commodity risk is with foreign exchange risk and is not applicable to non-trading portfolios.
Value at risk of the trading and non-trading portfolios
The Bank VAR, both trading and non-trading, is below:
Value at risk
2016 2015

AEDO000 AEDO000
AL 3L DECEMDET ...t 14,038 8,344
AVverage ... 13,184 10,311
Minimum 3,884 6,701
Maximum 21,929 14,527

Trading portfolios

The Bank’s control of market risk in the trading portfolios is based on a policy of restricting individual operations to trading
within a list of permissible instruments authorised for each site by HSBC Group Risk, of enforcing rigorous new product and
approval procedures, and of restricting trading in the more complex derivative products only to offices with appropriate levels of
product expertise and robust control systems.
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Market-making and position-taking is undertaken within Global Markets. The VAR for such trading intent activity at 31 December
2016 was AED 5.0 million (2015: AED 2.9 million). This is analysed below by risk type:

VAR by risk type for the trading intent activities

Foreign

exchange Interest rate Credit Total'

AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000 AEDO000
At 31 December 2016 .......ccccoviiriiiceie s 796 5,260 456 4,979
At 31 DECEMDBET 2015 ... ssnsessns 700 2,738 1,095 2,905
Average
2016 oottt ettt 840 6,044 905 6,203
2015 e 580 2,413 1,843 3,044
Minimum
2016 oo s 321 854 277 6,165
2015 s 234 1,015 989 1,416
Maximum
20016 oot 9,815 12,165 1,872 12,366
2015 ot 1,340 5,052 4,993 5,789

1 The total VAR is non-additive across risk types due to diversification effects.

Gap risk

Even for transactions which are structured to render the risk to the Bank negligible under a wide range of market conditions or
events, there exists a remote possibility that a significant gap event could lead to loss. A gap event could arise from a significant
change in market price with no accompanying trading opportunity, with the result that the threshold is breached beyond which
the risk profile changes from no risk to full exposure to the underlying structure. Such movements may occur for example, when,
in reaction to an adverse event or unexpected news announcement, the market for a specific investment becomes illiquid, making
hedging impossible.

Given the characteristics of these transactions, they will make little or no contribution to VAR or to traditional market risk
sensitivity measures. The Bank captures the risks for such transactions within the stress testing scenarios and monitor gap risk on
an ongoing basis. The Bank incurred no material gap losses arising from movements in the underlying market price on such
transactions in the 12 months ended 31 December 2016.

De-peg risk

For currencies such as the AED that are pegged or managed, the spot exchange rate is pegged at a fixed rate (typically to USD),
or managed within a predefined band around a pegged rate. De-peg risk is the risk of the peg or managed band changing or being
abolished, and moving to a floating regime.

Using stressed scenarios on spot rates, the Bank is able to analyse how de-peg events would impact the positions held by the
Bank. This complements traditional market risk metrics, such as historical VaR, which may not fully capture the risk involved in
holding positions in pegged currencies. Historical VaR relies on past events to determine the likelihood of potential profits or
losses.

However, pegged or managed currencies may not have experienced a de-peg event during the historical timeframe being
considered.

Non-trading portfolios

The principal objective of market risk management of non-trading portfolios is to optimise net interest income.

Interest rate risk in non-trading portfolios arises principally from mismatches between the future yield on assets and their funding
cost as a result of interest rate changes. Analysis of this risk is complicated by having to make assumptions on embedded
optionality within certain product areas, such as the incidence of mortgage prepayments, and from behavioural assumptions
regarding the economic duration of liabilities which are contractually repayable on demand such as current accounts.

The control of market risk in the non-trading portfolios is based on transferring the risks to the books managed by Global Markets
or the local ALCO. The net exposure is typically managed through the use of interest rate swaps within agreed limits. The VAR
for these portfolios is included within the Bank VAR.
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Sensitivity of net interest income

A principal part of the Bank’s management of market risk in non-trading portfolios is monitoring the sensitivity of projected net
interest income under varying interest rate scenarios (simulation modelling). The Bank aims, through our management of market
risk in non-trading portfolios, to mitigate the impact of prospective interest rate movements which could reduce future net interest
income, while balancing the cost of hedging such activities on the current net revenue stream.

For simulation modelling, businesses use a combination of scenarios relevant to their local businesses and markets and standard
scenarios which are required throughout the HSBC Group.

Projected net interest income sensitivity figures represent the effect of the pro forma movements in net interest income based on
the projected yield curve scenarios and the Bank’s current interest rate risk profile. This effect, however, does not incorporate
actions which would probably be taken by Global Markets or in the business units to mitigate the effect of interest rate risk. In
reality, Global Markets seeks proactively to change the interest rate risk profile to minimise losses and optimise net revenues. The
projections also assume that interest rates of all maturities move by the same amount (although rates are not assumed to become
negative in the falling rates scenario) and, therefore, do not reflect the potential impact on net interest income of some rates
changing while others remain unchanged. In addition, the projections take account of the effect on net interest income of
anticipated differences in changes between interbank interest rates and interest rates linked to other bases (such as Central Bank
rates or product rates over which the entity has discretion in terms of the timing and extent of rate changes). The projections make
other simplifying assumptions, including that all positions run to maturity.

Defined benefit pension scheme

Market risk also arises within the Bank’s defined benefit pension schemes to the extent that the obligations of the schemes are not
fully matched by assets with determinable cash flows.

Operational risk

Operational risk management

Operational risk is the risk to achieving the strategy or objectives as a result of inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems, or from external events. Operational risk is relevant to every aspect of the Bank’s business and covers a wide spectrum
of issues, in particular legal, compliance, security and fraud. Losses arising from breaches of regulation and law, unauthorised
activities, error, omission, fraud, systems failure or external events all fall within the definition of operational risk.

Business and Regional Risk Management Meetings, which are a forward-looking holistic forum for all aspects of risk management
including operational risk, ensure that all countries and business units maintain an operational risk management framework
(‘ORMF’) that meets the Bank’s minimum standards.

Responsibility for minimising operational risk lies with all the Bank’s employees. Specifically, all staff are required to manage
the operational risks of the business and operational activities for which they are responsible.

A centralised database is used to record the results of the operational risk management process. Operational risk and control self
assessments are input and maintained by the business units. To ensure that operational risk losses are consistently reported and
monitored at group level, all group companies are required to report individual losses when the net loss is expected to exceed
USD 10,000.

Operational risk management framework
The Bank’s ORMF is the overarching approach for managing operational risk, the purpose of which is to:
- ldentify and manage our operational risks in an effective manner.

- Remain within the Bank’s operational risk appetite, which helps the organisation understand the level of risk it is willing
to accept.

- Drive forward-looking risk awareness and assist management focus during 2016.

The ORMF defines minimum standards and processes, and the governance structure for the management of operational risk and
internal control in our geographical regions, global businesses and global functions. The ORMF has been codified in a high-level
standards manual, supplemented with detailed policies, which describes our approach to identifying, assessing, monitoring and
controlling operational risk and gives guidance on mitigating action to be taken when weaknesses are identified.

Activity to strengthen the Bank’s risk culture and better embed the use of the ORMF was further implemented in 2016. In
particular, the Bank continued to streamline our operational risk management processes, procedures and tool sets to provide more
forward-looking risk insights and more effective operation of the ORMF.
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Three Lines of Defence

All employees are responsible for identifying and managing risk within the scope of their role as part of the three lines of defence
model. The group uses an activity-based three lines of defence model to delineate management accountabilities and
responsibilities for risk management and the control environment. This creates a robust control environment to manage risks.
The model underpins the approach to risk management by clarifying responsibility, encouraging collaboration, and enabling

efficient coordination of risk and control activities.

The three lines of defence are summarised below:

—  The first line of defence owns the risks and is responsible for identifying, recording, reporting and managing them, and

ensuring that the right controls and assessments are in place to mitigate them.

—  The second line of defence sets the policy and guidelines for managing specific risk areas, provides advice and guidance in

relation to the risk, and challenges the first line of defence on effective risk management.

—  Thethird line of defence is our Internal Audit function, which provides independent and objective assurance of the adequacy
of the design and operational effectiveness of the group’s risk management framework and control governance process.

Capital management

The Bank’s regulator, the Central Bank of the UAE, sets and monitors regulatory capital requirements. The Bank’s objectives

when managing capital are to:
— Safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern; and

—  Comply with regulatory capital requirements set by the Central Bank of the UAE.

The Bank’s regulatory capital adequacy ratio is set by the Central Bank of the UAE at a minimum level of 12% (2015: 12%).

The Bank’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers:
—  Tier 1 capital, which includes allocated capital and retained earnings (excluding current year profit); and
—  Tier 2 capital, which includes collective impairment provision and subordinated facilities.

Capital structure as at 31 December

(Unaudited) 2016 2015
Basel 11 Basel Il
AEDO000 AEDO000

Composition of regulatory capital
1= 0 o T | RS TSRTSR 11,875,472 10,772,918
THEE 2 CAPITAL vttt bbbt b bbb bbbttt s s b bbb enas 2,577,887 3,150,446
Total regUIBtOrY CAPITAL ......ceiiiieeiee ettt ettt ebenan 14,453,359 13,923,364

Risk weighted assets

Credit and COUNTEIPAITY FISK ......oviuiriiiieeieteiisie ettt sttt ettt ss st et nenen 74,020,936 75,755,700
Market risK .........ccoeveirninicninns 2,872,952 3,613,795
Operational risk 9,373,971 8,953,460
86,267,859 88,322,955
Capital ratios % %
Capital BABQUACY FALIO ....cueieitieiiiiieti ettt bbbt bbbttt 16.75 15.76
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36 Contingent liabilities, contractual commitments and guarantees

2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Guarantees and other contingent liabilities
GUATANTEES ...t 27,800,492 26,017,733
27,800,492 26,017,733
Commitments
Documentary credits and short-term trade-related tranSactions ............ccccoevreeieinnsenensseeees 732,179 820,711
Undrawn formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend ............cccccovveeenne. 42,203,906 47,253,471
42,936,085 48,074,182

The table above discloses the nominal principal amounts of commitments, excluding capital commitments, which are separately
disclosed below, guarantees and other contingent liabilities; mainly credit-related instruments which include both financial and
non-financial guarantees and commitments to extend credit. Nominal principal amounts represent the amounts at risk should
contracts be fully drawn upon and clients default. As a significant portion of guarantees and commitments is expected to expire
without being drawn upon, the total of these nominal principal amounts is not representative of future liquidity requirements.

37 Lease commitments

Operating lease commitments

At 31 December 2016, the Bank was obligated under a number of non-cancellable operating leases for properties, plant and
equipment for which the future minimum lease payments extend over a number of years.

Land and buildings

2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring:
— NO [Ater thaN ONE YR .......ciiiiieee et 70,159 71,831
— later than one year and no later than five YEars ... 109,936 137,247
— 1ater than FIVE YEAIS ....vcvcueeiiisecee ettt nnnen 14,510 23,020
194,605 232,098

Finance lease receivables

The Bank leases a variety of assets to third parties under finance leases. At the end of the lease terms, assets may be sold to third
parties or leased for further terms. Lessees may participate in any sales proceeds achieved. Lease rentals arising during the lease
terms will either be fixed in quantum or be varied to reflect changes in, for example, tax or interest rates. Rentals are calculated
to recover the cost of assets less their residual value, and earn future income.

Present value of financial lease commitments

2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
Lease receivables:
= N0 1ALEN TNAN ONE VAN ...eiiiieiiictee ettt 996,226 1,000,810
- later than one year and no later than five Years..........c..covioieit i 43,897 33,200
- |ater than fIVE YEAIS ......cciiiiccec et 219,910 17,253
1,260,033 1,051,263
38 Interests in associates and Joint Arrangements
Associates of the Bank
Summarised financial information in respect of associates not individually significant
2016 2015
AEDO000 AEDO000
CAITYING VAIUE.......eviitiiiit bbbttt - 277,071
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39

Joint arrangement of the Bank

At 31 December 2016

The Bank’s
Country of interest in
incorporation Principal activity  equity capital Issued equity capital
US$503 million fully
HSBC Middle East Leasing Partnership ................ Dubai, UAE Leasing 15.00% paid

The former structure of HSBC Middle East Leasing Partnership (‘MELP’), a strategic aircraft leasing arrangement between
HSBC France (‘HBFR’) and the Bank, was treated as an associate reflecting the significant influence over the partnership
established as a result of representation on the Board of Partners.

On 1 December 2016, the partnership agreement of MELP was revised which changed the entity structure to “Joint Operation’
between HBFR and the Bank, which has resulted in respective ownership interest in the underlying assets and liabilities that are
beneficially owned and incurred by the parties directly by virtue of MELP’s transparent legal form, instead of investment in net
assets.

Upon acquisition of joint control, the Bank’s accounting has changed to joint operations and therefore has de-recognised its
investment in associate and recognised 15% of MELP’s assets, liabilities, prospective revenues, and expenses and accounted for
them consistently with other directly owned assets. A gain of AED 6,620 thousand was made on the acquisition and is included
within ‘Other operating income’.

Legal proceedings and regulatory matters

The Bank is party to legal proceedings, investigations and regulatory matters in a number of jurisdictions arising out of its normal
business operations. Apart from the matters described below, the Bank considers that none of these matters are material. While
the outcome of legal proceedings and regulatory matters is inherently uncertain, management believes that, based on the
information available to it, appropriate provisions have been made in respect of these matters as at 31 December 2016. Any
provision recognised does not constitute an admission of wrongdoing or legal liability. It is not practicable to provide an aggregate
estimate of potential liability for our legal proceedings and regulatory matters as a class of contingent liabilities.

Anti-money laundering and sanctions-related
(Matters relevant to HBME and its branches, as a subsidiary of HSBC operating in the Middle East)

In October 2010, HSBC Bank USA entered into a consent order with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the ‘OCC’),
and HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HNAH’) entered into a consent order with the Federal Reserve Board (the ‘FRB’)
(each an ‘Order ‘and together, the ‘Orders’). These Orders required improvements to establish an effective compliance risk
management programme across HSBC’s US businesses, including risk management related to the Bank Secrecy Act (‘BSA’)
and anti-money laundering (*AML”) compliance. HSBC Bank USA is not currently in compliance with the OCC Order. Steps
are being taken to address the requirements of the Orders.

In December 2012, HSBC Holdings, HNAH and HSBC Bank USA entered into agreements with US and UK government
agencies regarding past inadequate compliance with the BSA, AML and sanctions laws. Among those agreements, HSBC
Holdings and HSBC Bank USA entered into a five-year deferred prosecution agreement with, among others, the DoJ (the ‘US
DPA”); and HSBC Holdings consented to a cease-and-desist order, and HSBC Holdings and HNAH consented to a civil money
penalty order with the FRB. HSBC Holdings also entered into an agreement with the Office of Foreign Assets Control (‘OFAC’)
regarding historical transactions involving parties subject to OFAC sanctions, as well as an undertaking with the UK FCA to
comply with certain forward-looking AML and sanctions-related obligations. In addition, HSBC Bank USA entered into civil
money penalty orders with the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network of the US Treasury Department and the OCC.

Under these agreements, HSBC Holdings and HSBC Bank USA made payments totalling US$1.9bn to US authorities and
undertook various further obligations, including, among others, to continue to cooperate fully with the DoJ in any and all
investigations, not to commit any crime under US federal law subsequent to the signing of the agreement, and to retain an
independent compliance monitor (the ‘Monitor’). In February 2017, the Monitor delivered his third annual follow-up review
report.
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Through his country-level reviews, the Monitor identified potential anti-money laundering and sanctions compliance issues that
the DoJ and HSBC are reviewing further. The potential consequences of breaching the US DPA could include the imposition of
additional terms and conditions on HSBC, an extension of the agreement, including its monitorship, or the criminal prosecution
of HSBC, which could, in turn, entail further financial penalties and collateral consequences. Additional consequences of
breaching the DPA orders could have a material adverse effect on HSBC’s business, financial condition and results of operations,
including loss of business and withdrawal of funding, restrictions on performing dollar-clearing functions through HSBC Bank
USA or revocation of bank licenses.

These settlements with US and UK authorities have led to private litigation, and do not preclude further private litigation related
to HSBC’s compliance with applicable BSA, AML and sanctions laws or other regulatory or law enforcement actions for BSA,
AML, sanctions or other matters not covered by the various agreements.

In November 2014, a complaint was filed in the US District Court for the Eastern District of New York on behalf of
representatives of US persons alleged to have been killed or injured in Irag between April 2004 and November 2011. The
complaint was filed against HSBC Holdings, HSBC Bank plc, HSBC Bank USA and HSBC Bank Middle East Limited, as well
as other non-HSBC banks and the Islamic Republic of Iran (together, the ‘Defendants’). The plaintiffs allege that Defendants
violated the US Anti-Terrorism Act (*US ATA’) by altering or falsifying payment messages involving Iran, Iranian parties and
Iranian banks for transactions processed through the US. The Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss in May 2015 and an amended
Motion to Dismiss in September 2016, following the filing by the Plaintiffs of a Second Amended Complaint in July 2016.

In November 2015, a complaint was filed in the US District Court for the Northern District of Illinois on behalf of representatives
of US persons alleged to have been killed or injured in terrorist attacks on three hotels in Amman, Jordan in 2005. The complaint
was filed against HSBC Holdings, HSBC Bank USA, HNAH, HSI, HSBC Finance, HSBC USA Inc. and HSBC Bank Middle
East Limited, as well a non-HSBC bank, Al Rajhi Bank (together the “Defendants”). The plaintiffs allege that the HSBC
defendants violated the US ATA by failing to enforce due diligence methods to prevent its financial services from being used to
support the terrorist attacks. In early January 2017, the Defendants filed various Motions, including a Motion to Dismiss from
the Plaintiffs” Complaint HSBC Bank Middle East Limited and another HSBC defendant, and a Motion to Transfer what remains
of the action to the Southern District of New York.

In November 2016, a complaint was filed in the Southern District of Illinois on behalf of representatives of U.S. soldiers killed
or injured whilst serving in Irag. The complaint was filed against HSBC Holdings plc, HSBC Bank plc, HSBC Bank Middle East
Limited, HSBC Bank USA, N.A and other non-HSBC Banks, Deutsche Bank AG, Barclays Bank plc, Standard Chartered Bank,
Royal Bank of Scotland, N.V., Credit Suisse AG, Bank Saderat plc and Commerzbank AG (together the “Defendants”). The
plaintiffs allege that the HSBC defendants violated the US ATA by altering or falsifying payment messages involving Iran,
Iranian parties and Iranian banks for transactions processed through the US. In December 2016, the Defendants filed a Motion
to Transfer the action to the Eastern District of New York. In January 2017, the Plaintiffs filed a First Amended Complaint which
named an additional HSBC defendant, HSBC North America Holdings Inc. This action is at an early stage.

40 Related party transactions

The ultimate parent company of the Bank is HSBC Holdings plc, which is incorporated in England.
Copies of the HSBC Group financial statements may be obtained from the following address:

HSBC Holdings plc
8 Canada Square
London

E14 5HQ

The Bank’s related parties include the parent, fellow subsidiaries, and associates, post-employment benefit plans for HSBC
employees, key management personnel, close family members of key management personnel and entities which are controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced by key management personnel or their close family members.
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41

Transactions with related parties

Assets

Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to banks ..........c.ccccuevee.

Reverse repurchase agreements — NON-tradiNg ..........ccoeeivriririereeieriseseeeee e

Liabilities
Deposits by banks
Customer accounts
Subordinated loan from Head OffiCe .......ccovciiiiiiiiii i

Irrevocable commitments and CONtINGENCIES .......cvcveiiriririeeirreie e s

Income Statement

INEEIEST INCOIME ...ttt b et b ettt
Interest expense ...
Fee income ......
FBE BXPIBNSE ..ottt
Other OPErating INCOME ....c.vvivieieeeeiri ettt s e et s s se e b st es e e e e ssebese e e seesesnnen
General and adminiStrative EXPENSES .......c.ceriiriririeeiirisieie ettt sttt besenea

! The disclosure of the year-end balance is considered the most meaningful information to represent transactions during the year.

2016 2015
Balance at the Balance at the
year end* year end*
AEDO000 AEDO000
1,131,128 1,278,155
7,571,936 5,737,903
32,024 102,973
12,008,054 11,116,782
147,118 21,188
2,757,742 2,757,354
2,012,536 2,193,125

For the year ended
31 December 2016
AEDO000

105,763
(260,716)
197,473
(56,558)
287,826
(231,092)

For the year ended
31 December 2015
AEDO000

42,718
(240,931)
159,541
(57,741)
360,012
(318,179)

The above outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of business and on substantially the same terms, including interest

rates and security, as for comparable transactions with third party counterparties.

Social contributions

42

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Bank made social contributions of AED 11,263 thousand.

Events after the balance sheet date

43

These accounts were approved by management on 9 March 2017 and authorised for issue.

Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in these financial statements.
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Capital structure as at 31 December 2016

Composition of regulatory capital

Tier 1 capital

Paid Up Share Capital..........oooiit i e e e e e et e e e e e e e e
[T L (= RT=] PN
Lo 1o = LN ]
(O] 1 ToT g o oY T PP TRPPI

Total core capital

Less: Deductions

IEANGIDIES . .ot e e e
OWN SNAES NEI. .. ... et e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e et et e tet e et ee e aeaeans
(OB =] 1Y YN oL PP

Total net deductions
Total tier 1 capital (A)

Tier 2 capital

Undisclosed reserves/ GeNEIal PrOVISIONS. .. ... ..t i ettt ettt e e e e e et ete e ee e e ens
YU oo (o [T aTo (=Yoo T [ 3

Total tier 2 capital (B)
Total capital base (A) + (B)

Capital requirements as per the standarised approach

(01 1o ) 1 P
Y U ] B T
(@] oL VA [0 g T U 1] P

Total

Capital ratios

Total Capital AdEQUACY FALIO. .. ...\ttt et iet et e e e e e e e e e e e e e et e a et e tet e ret e ean e eanaes
I g oF:To 11 LI L o PP

2016
AED million

4,495

1,752

5,893
(218)

11,921

925
1,653

2,578

14,453

as at 31 Dec 2016

RWA

AED million
74,020
2,873
9,374

Capital
requirement
AED million

8,882
345
1,125

86,267

10,352

%
16.75%
13.77%
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External Ratings
Qualitative information
Currently, the Bank has used the following three external rating agencies for determining risk weighted assets for all its exposures (which utilise external ratings): a) Moody's Investors Service; b) Standard & Poor's; and c) Fitch ratings.

Quantitative information
Loan portfolio as per the standardised approach

AED million
Gross credit exposures Exposures subject to deduction
RWA post
Loan Portfolio Rated Unrated Total Post CRM CRM Rated Unrated Total Post CRM RWA post CRM
Claims 0N SOVEIEIGNS. .. e vvvenieee et ee et e 25,951 - 25,951 25,951 731 25,951 - 25,951 25,951 731
Claims on public sector entities............... 122 632 754 754 - 122 632 754 754 -
Claims on multilateral development banks.. 1,227 455 1,682 1,682 - 1,227 455 1,682 1,682 -
Claims on securities firms..................... e - - - - - - - - - -
Claims 0N DaNKS......cvuviie e 22,039 4,752 26,790 26,790 6,794 22,039 4,752 26,790 26,790 6,794
Claims 0N COTPOTate. .. ..vvivniieevee e e e 2,138 104,379 106,518 62,864 51,300 2,138 104,379 106,518 62,864 51,300
Regulatory and other retail exposure.................c.oe.. - 12,950 12,950 5,272 3,956 - 12,950 12,950 5,272 3,956
Residential retail eXposure.............ooeoveviveeiiiiiinennns - 7,286 7,286 6,690 2,641 - 7,286 7,286 6,690 2,641
Commercial real estate........ 262 3,856 4,119 4,119 4,119 262 3,856 4,119 4,119 4119
Past due loans............. - 3,871 3,871 1,771 1,964 - 3,871 3,871 1,771 1,964
Other assets...........ovuvvunnns e 339 8,624 8,962 7,873 2,342 339 8,624 8,962 7,873 2,342
Claims on securitised assets............ocvvvvvnineneeninennnn. - - - - - - - - - -
Credit derivatives (Banks selling protection)............... 866 - 866 866 173 866 - 866 866 173

Total 52,944 146,805 199,750 144,634 74,020 52,944 146,805 199,750 144,634 74,020
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Equity risk

Market risk as per the standardised approach

AED million
Specific interest rate risk

.............................................................................................................................. 10
GENETAL INEIEST FALE TISK. .. 1.t vttt ettt et e e e et e e e et et e e e et et e e te e et e e e eee e e e e e ee e et e e e eea e et enee eea et e aeeeanananns 301
o] (T o [l o T o PP PP PPPTPPPTPN 30

Total market risk capital charge 342
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Interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB)
AED million

Shift in yield curves Net interest income Regulatory capital

+200 DaSIS POINT... . ev it iee e e e e e e 588 11,875
- 200 DaSIS POINt. .. ceuee et e e e e (735) 11,875
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Gross credit exposures by residual contractual maturity

AED million
Other off-
OTC balance sheet Total non

Contractual maturity Loans Debt securities  Other assets ~ Total funded Commitments*  derivatives* exposures* funded* Total
Lessthan 3 months............coviiiiiiii 52,630 6,687 16,158 75,475 1,779 2,432 - 4,211 79,686
3 mMONthS t0 ONE YEAr......cvuvie et e vi e e 9,024 5,536 76 14,637 4,597 2,123 - 6,719 21,357
One to fiVe YEarS.......uuvviiiiiiiii i 16,511 3,602 - 20,113 13,404 3,626 - 17,030 37,142
OVEr fIVE YBAIS. ...ttt e e 8,623 621 - 9,244 - 495 - 495 9,738
Total 86,788 16,446 16,234 119,468 19,780 8,675 - 28,454 147,923
Note:

* these are converted to on balance sheet equivalent amounts
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Gross credit exposures by currency type

AED million
Other off-
balance sheet Total non
Currency type Loans Debt securities  Other assets  Total funded Commitments* OTC derivatives* exposures* funded* Total
Foreign CUIrency..........ooeeveiiniiiiinnnen. 50,420 6,946 8,123 65,488 9,339 7,859 - 17,199 82,687
AED.....o 36,368 9,501 8,111 53,980 10,440 815 - 11,256 65,236
Total 86,788 16,446 16,234 119,468 19,780 8,675 - 28,454 147,923

Note:
* these are converted to on balance sheet equivalent amounts
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Gross credit exposures by geography

Geography

United Arab Emirates ("UAE")...................

GCC Excluding UAE
Arab League (excluding GCC)

Europe.............o..ee.
Australia.................
Others.........ccovvn.

Total

Note:

AED million
Other off-
balance sheet Total non
Loans Debt securities Other assets  Total funded Commitments*  OTC derivatives*  exposures* funded* Total
61,870 10,179 9,732 81,781 16,395 2,242 - 18,637 100,418
12,618 484 351 13,453 842 912 - 1,754 15,207
1,873 560 2 2,435 91 6 - 98 2,533
1,455 1,001 1 2,547 83 215 - 298 2,846
4 2 - 6 1 - - 1 6
1,623 1,239 8 2,870 99 18 - 117 2,987
962 - 0 962 - - - - 962
5,078 2,892 2,626 10,596 1,859 5,281 - 7,140 17,736
27 - 1 28 7 0 - 7 35
1,277 - 3,514 4,790 403 - - 403 5,193
86,788 16,446 16,234 119,468 19,780 8,675 - 28,454 147,923

* these are converted to on balance sheet equivalent amounts
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Credit risk mitigation: Disclosures for standardised approach

AED million
Exposures Risk weighted assets

Gross Exposures prior to credit risk mitigation

............................................................................................................ 181,345 74,020
Less: Exposures covered by 0n-balance SNEEE MELLING ... ... ...ttt e et e e e et et et et et e e e e e e - -
Less: Exposures covered by eligible financial Collateral......... ..ot e e e e e e e e 565 -
LeSS: EXPOSUIES COVEIEA DY QUAIANMTEES . .. .. et tet it ettt et et e et e et e e et e e et e e ea et e e et et et e te e e eh e te e e ret e set e een e een e ees 36,145 -
Less: EXposures COVEred DY Credit QBIIVALIVES. .. ... ... it e et e e et et e e e e et e v et e eea e e e e e e e et et e e e ae e e eaeaenene s - -

Net exposures after credit risk mitigation 144,634 74,020
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Gross credit exposures by industry segment

AED million
Other off-
balance sheet Total non

Industry segment Loans Debt securities Other assets Total funded Commitments*  OTC derivatives* exposures* funded* Total
Agriculture, Fishing & related activities........... 3 - - 3 9 3 - 12 15
Crude Oil, Gas, Mining & Quarrying............... 561 - - 561 2,636 2 - 2,638 3,199
Manufacturing..........covvvveiiini i 8,270 - - 8,270 1,374 80 - 1,454 9,723
Electricity& Water...........ccoovvviviviniiiinnenne. 2,410 - - 2,410 - 213 - 213 2,623
Construction e 6,519 - - 6,519 3,330 0 - 3,330 9,849
I 10 PP, 10,043 - - 10,043 - 731 - 731 10,775
Transport, Storage & Communication.............. 6,431 - - 6,431 854 281 - 1,135 7,566
Financial Institutions.............cccovvivivieninnenn. 27,582 484 - 28,066 1,735 7,114 - 8,849 36,915
SBIVICES . ettt eie it e e e e e 5,231 - - 5,231 1,568 58 - 1,626 6,856
Government.................. 4537 13,703 - 18,241 56 167 - 222 18,463
Retail/Consumer banking.. 13,662 - - 13,662 3,669 - - 3,669 17,331
AlLOLNEIS. .. cevie et 1,538.16 2,259 16,234 20,032 4,550 26 - 4,576 24,608
Total 86,788 16,446 16,234 119,468 19,780 8,675 - 28,455 147,923
Note:

* these are converted to on balance sheet equivalent amounts
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Credit risk as per the standardised approach

Asset classes

ClaiMS ON SOVEIEIGNS. .. ..ttt et et et et e et e et ettt
Claims on non-central Government public sector entities (PSES)......................
Claims on multilateral development banks..............cc.ovuiviiiiiiiniiiiiiiieens
Claims 0N DANKS. .. ..o e e
Claims 0N SeCUMtieS FIMMS.......oou e e

Claims on corporates................

Claims included in the regulatory retail portfolio...............coeoveiveineineneennn,

Claims secured by residential property............
Claims secured by commercial real estate...
Past due 10ans...........c.ovvuvieeieiniiiiians

HiIgher-riSk CatEgOTIES. .. ... evt vt et ettt et et e
[0 ToT e T PSP
Claims 0N SECUTTTISEA SSELS. .. ... vu vt e e e et re e et et e et et e
Credit derivatives (banks selling protection)..............ccoovuiiiiniiniiniiiieenns

Total claims

E L] 11 15T 01T T B PP

Total credit risk

AED million

On balance sheet

Off balance sheet

Total

Net exposure after
Credit Converison

Gross exposure before

Specific provisions
and suspended

Net exposure

Gross outstanding Factors (CCF) CRM interest before CRM Risk weighted assets
25,821 130 25,951 - 25,951 731
754 - 754 - 754 -
1,682 - 1,682 - 1,682 -
19,813 6,977 26,790 - 26,790 6,794
72,661 33,857 106,518 (199) 106,319 51,300
13,072 - 122 12,950 (127) 12,823 3,956

7,878 - 592 7,286 (594) 6,692 2,641
4,119 - 4,119 - 4,119 4,119
5971 - 2,100 3,871 (2,100) 1,771 1,964
10,052 - 1,089 8,962 (1,089) 7,873 2,342
- 866 866 - 866 173
161,824 37,926 199,750 (4,108) 195,641 74,020
1

74,021




